IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT
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sanctions upon the following three persons (collectively and sometimes, the

“Respondents”), each of whom is affiliated with the notorious “bankruptcy

services” scam known as “Critique Services” (the “Critique Services Business”):

(@)

(b)

James C. Robinson, the former attorney for each of the debtors
(each, a “Debtor”; collectively, the “Debtors”) in the above-
referenced chapter 7 cases (each, a “Case”; collectively, the
“Cases”), who was suspended from the privilege of practicing
before the Court on June 10, 2014 for contempt and malfeasance;

Critique Services L.L.C., a limited liability company through which

the Critiqgue Services Business is operated; and
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Ross H. Briggs, the attorney who, following Robinson’s suspension,
took over the representation of all the Debtors except for the

Debtors in In re Moore and In re Logan.

The Court now enters this Memorandum Opinion and Order (the “Memorandum

Opinion”), setting forth its findings of facts and conclusions of law that are the

bases for the contemporaneously entered Judgment, in which the Court orders

that:
(i)

(ii)

(iif)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

the findings of fact in this Memorandum Opinion be made part of
the record in any future proceeding in which Robinson may seek to
be reinstated to the privilege of practicing before the Court;

this Memorandum Opinion constitute a referral of attorney
misconduct to the Missouri Supreme Court’'s Office of Chief
Disciplinary Counsel (the “OCDC");

this Memorandum Opinion serve as a supplement to the referral
already made to the U.S. District Court (the “District Court”)
regarding Robinson’s activities before this Court, which resulted the
a currently pending disciplinary proceeding before the District Court
(USDC Case No. 14-MC-0352);

Briggs be suspended, effectively immediately, from the privilege of
practicing before the Court and remain suspended until October 15,
2016, subject to certain terms and exceptions;

the electronic filing system (“CM-ECF”) passcode of Briggs be
suspended, effectively immediately, and remain suspended
throughout the duration of Briggs’s suspension from the privilege of
practicing before the Court;

Briggs be permanently barred from any professional or financial
involvement with, or professional or financial connection to, certain
persons affiliated with the Critique Services Business (as specified
herein), to the degree that such professional involvement or
connection might touch upon any case that is, or is anticipated to
be, filed with the Court;

13



(Vi)

(viii)

(ix)

(x)

(xi)

(xii)

(xii)

Briggs complete twelve hours of continuing legal education (“CLE”)
in professional ethics prior to his reinstatement from suspension;
Critique Services L.L.C. and Critigue Legal Services L.L.C. be
permanently barred from providing any goods or services to any
person or entity, if such goods or services affect or touch upon, or
could reasonably be anticipated to affect or touch upon, any case
that is, or is anticipated to be, filed with the Court;

any attorney registered to practice law before the Court or admitted
to practice before this Court on a pro hac vice basis be prohibited
from obtaining any goods or services from Beverly Holmes Diltz or
any entity that is owned, managed or controlled (now or in the
future) by Diltz, if those good or services, may affect or touch upon,
or could reasonably be anticipated to affect, or touch upon, any
case that is, or is anticipated to be, filed with the Court;

this Memorandum Opinion constitute a report to the U.S. Attorney
for the Eastern District of Missouri (the “USA”) pursuant to 18
U.S.C. 8 3057(a) of suspected violations of federal criminal law,
and a directive to the USA, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3057(a) to
conduct an inquiry into the facts and circumstances herein and
make a written report thereon to the Board of Judges of the Court;
this Memorandum Opinion serve as a referral to the Internal
Revenue Service, for suspected failure to file tax returns, report
taxable income, and properly account for employee-related taxes
and withholding;

this Memorandum Opinion serve as a referral to the Missouri
Department of Revenue, for suspected failure to file tax returns,
report taxable income, and properly account for employee-related
taxes and withholding; and

this Memorandum Opinion be forwarded to the Office of the
Missouri Attorney General (the “MOAG”) and the Office of the St.
Louis City Circuit Attorney, for the information of those Offices.
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PRELIMINARY MATTERS

This Memorandum Opinion is unusually lengthy and contains more than
two hundred attachments. The Respondents have made this copious detailing
necessary. Each has a history of making misleading and false statements—to
this Court and others—about matters before this Court, about this Court, and
about the Judge. These are not honest people. They lie when it serves their
purposes; they mislead when they think that they can get away with it. They
misrepresent the record and misstate Court rulings. They may do so again,
should an appeal be taken in this matter. Accordingly, the Court will set forth as
complete a record as possible, in support of this Memorandum Opinion.

Herein, references to “8[8]" or “section[s]” refer to section(s) of title 11 of
the United States Code (the “Bankruptcy Code”), unless otherwise indicated.

Herein, the phrase “8§8 341 meeting” refers to the debtor's meeting of
creditors required by 8§ 341, which provides that within a reasonable time after
the order for relief in a case under this title, the United States trustee shall
convene and preside at a meeting of creditors.

Herein, the term “BPP” refers to a “bankruptcy petition preparer.” A BPP
is statutorily defined as “a person, other than an attorney for the debtor or an
employee of such attorney under the direct supervision of such attorney, who
prepares for compensation a document for filing.” 11 U.S.C. § 110(a)(1). The
Bankruptcy Code has provisions governing BPPs. 11 U.S.C. § 110(d-j).

Herein, the Court refers to the “UST” and the “Trustee.” For the reader
unfamiliar with the bankruptcy process and its players, it may be helpful to
explain the difference between the U.S. Trustee (the “UST”) and a case trustee
(a “trustee”). The UST is the person responsible for overseeing the U.S. Trustee
Program, which is charged with policing the bankruptcy system for the Executive

Branch. As described on the website of the U.S. Trustee Program:
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The United States Trustee Program is a component of the
Department of Justice that seeks to promote the efficiency and
protect the integrity of the Federal bankruptcy system. To further
the public interest in the just, speedy and economical resolution of
cases filed under the Bankruptcy Code, the Program monitors the
conduct of bankruptcy parties and private estate trustees, oversees
related administrative functions, and acts to ensure compliance with
applicable laws and procedures. It also identifies and helps
investigate bankruptcy fraud and abuse in coordination with United
States Attorneys, the Federal Bureau of Investigation, and other
law enforcement agencies.
One of the responsibilities of the UST is to appoint, in each chapter 7 case, a
person to serve as a chapter 7 “trustee” and perform the trustee duties set forth
in 8§ 704(a). Those duties include (but are not limited to) administering the estate,
accounting for property received, and investigating the financial affairs of the
debtor. The UST maintains a panel of trustees from which trustee appointments
are made. A trustee ordinarily is an attorney in private practice, whose practice
includes serving on the UST’s trustee panel. Unlike the UST, who is an
employee of the U.S. Department of Justice (the “DOJ”), a trustee is not a DOJ
employee. A trustee is paid for service on a per-case basis. Although a trustee’s
service is supervised by the UST, a trustee is subject to the Court’'s orders and

directives, just like any other party.

SECTION ONE:
INTRODUCTION

The Court will provide a brief introduction to the Critique Services
Business, so that reading through this Memorandum Opinion will not feel like
flying blind without a horizon line. To organize the Attachments to this
Memorandum Opinion as logically as possible, the pleadings, orders, and
transcripts referenced in this Section One are attached to this Memorandum
Opinion at later footnotes, in the Sections that provide a more detailed

description of those documents and the events surrounding them.
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l. AN OVERVIEW OF THE CRITIQUE SERVICES BUSINESS

The Critique Services Business is a massive “bankruptcy services” rip-off
scheme that targets primarily low-income, minority individuals in the metropolitan
St. Louis, Missouri area. The business of the Critique Services Business is the
systematic practice of the unauthorized practice of law. The business defrauds
clients by promising bankruptcy legal services that it is deliberately designed not
to provide. Instead of providing legal services, it provides the “services” of non-
attorney staff persons.

The Critique Services Business is operated through Critigue Services
L.L.C. and Critique Legal Services L.L.C., two limited liability companies owned
and organized by Beverly Holmes Diltz, a scam artist who served time for a
felony state fraud conviction before she began running the Critique Services
Business. For the last fifteen-plus years, Diltz has been operating various
“Critigue”™named bankruptcy services business permutations—and racking up
numerous lawsuits and various court injunctions along the way, related to her
business’s unauthorized practice of law.

The Critique Services Business is located at 3919 Washington Blvd., St.
Louis, Missouri 63108 (the “Critique Services Business Office”), in a building
owned by Diltz. The exterior sign on the building reads “Critique Services,” and
has a large “scales of justice” emblem underneath, clearly meant to advertise to
the public that the business inside renders legal services. No attorney’s name is
listed on the sign. Until recently, the Critique Services Business operated a
website, www.critiqueservicesinfo.net, on which the business advertised legal
services and promised attorney representation in bankruptcy cases. No
attorney’s name was listed on the website. In addition, until recently, Critique
Services L.L.C. maintained a public Facebook page on which it advertised the
Critique Services Business and posted “information” related to its services.

The Critique Services Business requires that fees be paid in cash or a
cash-equivalent (such as by money order or debit card). Fees are collected long
before any lawfully practicing attorney ever speaks with the client (if he ever

speaks with the client). No legal analysis of whether bankruptcy is appropriate
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for the client’s circumstances is provided before fees are paid. After collection of
the fees, the fees are not placed into a client trust account. They are treated as
earned upon receipt, even though legal services have not yet been rendered.

Once the fees are collected, the “lawyering” is done by non-attorney staff
persons. Non-attorney staff persons, including Diltz and her long-time cohort,
office manager Renee Mayweather, dispense “legal” advice to clients and control
access to the attorneys. The non-attorney staff persons solicit the information for
inclusion in the petition papers, prepare the petition papers, and file the petition
papers (if the petition papers are ever filed). The business often delays filing the
clients’ cases—inexcusably and inexplicably—for months on end. Debtors have
repeatedly testified that when they try to get the legal services for which they
paid, all they get in return is the run-around.

Client abandonment is at the heart of the business’s operations. The
office is run to make it almost impossible for the client to speak with his attorney.
Telephone calls roll to voicemail. Voicemail messages are not returned.
Desperate clients resort to coming into the office in person, to beg for attention to
their cases—whereupon they are told that they cannot speak with an attorney but
must speak with Mayweather—if she is present.

Although there are always one or two attorneys affiliated with the Critique
Services Business (the “Critique Services Attorneys”), they are dummye-attorneys.
Even on the occasion where the client eventually gets to speak with a licensed,
practicing attorney, the conversation is perfunctory. The role of a Critique
Services Attorney is not to provide legal services; it is to rent out his signature
and bar card number, so that his signature block can be affixed to petition papers
prepared by non-attorney staff persons—to create the superficial impression that
legal services have been rendered. However, the lack of a real attorney-client
relationship is shown when Critique Services Business clients come to court
(almost always without their counsel). Some cannot name their attorney; some
have never even met their attorney.

Over the years, the Critique Services Attorneys have been disbarred,

suspended, admonished, sanctioned, and enjoined for their unlawful and
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unprofessional activities while affiliated with the business. All the Critique
Services Attorneys, except Briggs, are suspended from the privilege of practicing
before the Court for professional and ethical malfeasance while affiliated with the
business.

The Critiqgue Services Business is no small operation. Because Federal
Rule of Bankruptcy Procedure (“Bankruptcy Rule”) 2016 requires that a debtor’s
attorney file an attorney compensation disclosure statement (a “Rule 2016
statement”) in every bankruptcy case, the Court has records of what each
debtor’s attorney represents that he collected in attorney’s fees. According to the
records of the Office of the Clerk of Court (the “Clerk’s Office”), in 2013,
Robinson (the primary Critique Services Attorney at that time) filed 1,014 chapter
7 cases (charging an average fee of $296.23 per case) and 123 chapter 13
cases (charging an average fee of $4,000.00 per case). ' This means that, in
2013 alone, Robinson collected approximately $300,337.22 in chapter 7 fees,
and approximately $492,000.00 in chapter 13 fees—for an approximate total of
$792,337.22 in fees. That is, in one recent year alone, the Critique Services
Business pulled in more than three-quarters of a million dollars in cash. And
those are only the fees that were actually reported to the Court. (It has come to
the Court's attention that the business sometimes charges additional,
undisclosed bogus fees, such as “late fees”).

II. WHY DILTZ AND HER COHORTS HAVE BEEN ABLE TO GET AWAY
WITH THE CRITIQUE SERVICES BUSINESS SCAM FOR SO LONG

The Critique Services Business scam has gone on so long, and has
exploited so many, because of three sad realities.

First, most “no-asset” bankruptcy cases (which constitute the vast majority
of the Critique Services Business cases) pass through the bankruptcy system
with little scrutiny. A “no-asset” case is one in which there are no assets
available for administration. The distribution to unsecured creditors is $0. There
are no creditors fighting over non-existent assets. There are no disputes

requiring a close review of the documents. Debtors in no-asset cases rarely have

! Attachment 1.
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to appear in court; they usually appear only at the 8§ 341 meeting, which is
conducted by the trustee, outside the Court’s presence. As a result, the clients of
the Critique Services Business usually are none-the-wiser that their petition
papers were poorly prepared, contained errors, and involved no meaningful
lawyering or lawyer oversight.

Second, even when a client realizes that he has been victimized, he
usually lacks the resources—in time, money, and familiarity with the law—to do
anything about it. The working poor are pulling swing shifts and scrambling to
put food on the table. They do not have the time to take a crash course in
federal procedure so that they can proceed pro se against their own attorneys.

Third, the firewall set up to prevent such abuse and fraud has been
ineffective. For reasons that are not clear, the UST for this region (Region 13)
(the “UST13") has been highly ineffective over the years in stopping the fraud
perpetrated by the Critigue Services Business. Over and over, persons affiliated
with the Critique Services Business have agreed to consent injunctions in the
face of a lawsuit, only to quickly return thereafter to the same unlawful behavior.

lll. THE 2014 STEWARD SUSPENSION ORDER

In 2013, the Critique Services Business finally faced a formidable
adversary—a debtor named Latoya Steward. Ms. Steward had retained
Robinson to represent her in her chapter 7 case, In re Latoya Steward (Case No.
11-46399). Robinson failed to provide Ms. Steward with any meaningful legal
representation. His fees were collected long before he ever met with Ms.
Steward. He allowed non-attorney staff persons to do his “lawyering” for him.
He knowingly allowed false statements to be included in her petition papers. He
failed to return her telephone calls and ignored her pleas for attention to her
case. His abandonment resulted in significant financial harm to her.

Ms. Steward sought to hold Robinson and Critique Services L.L.C.
accountable.

Ms. Steward had no statutory obligation to police the bankruptcy system.
She had no legal training. She had no money to conduct litigation. She had no

access to federal investigators. When she began, she did not even have an
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attorney to represent her. She had to take on the Critique Services Business by
herself, with no resources. Nevertheless, on April 5, 2013, proceeding pro se,
Ms. Steward filed a motion to disgorge attorney’s fees. In her motion, she named
Robinson and Critique Services L.L.C. as respondents.

Portending their intent to litigate in bad faith, Robinson “d/b/a Critique
Services L.L.C.” retained as counsel the always-reliably unethical attorney, Elbert
A. Walton, Jr. (Walton’s long history of disreputable, dishonest lawyering is set
forth later herein.) Robinson “d/b/a Critique Services L.L.C.” and Walton then
proceeded to inflict a strategy of abuse against Ms. Steward and David Gunn, the
local bankruptcy attorney who took Ms. Steward’s case on a pro bono basis in
June 2013. The contemptuous activities of Robinson, Critique Services L.L.C.
and Walton included false statements, abuse of process, refusal to obey court
orders, standing on waived objections, asserting meritless defenses, disparaging
opposing counsel, attacking the character of Ms. Steward, and suing the Judge
(three times—twice in his official capacity and once in his personal capacity)—all
of which was done to avoid making discovery related to the financial operations
of Robinson and Critique Services L.L.C. Finally, after enduring months of this
abuse, and after attempting to garner lawful behavior through escalating
sanctions, on June 10, 2014, the Court entered an order (the “Steward
Suspension Order”). In the Steward Suspension Order, the Court granted the
motion to disgorge, deemed all well-pleaded facts in the motion to disgorge to be
admitted, monetarily sanctioned Robinson, Critique Services L.L.C., and Walton,
and suspended Robinson and Walton from the privilege of practicing before the
Court for one year.

Throughout the litigation in In re Steward, the UST13 was nowhere to be
found. There was only radio silence from the entity charged with identifying and
helping to investigate bankruptcy fraud and abuse. The UST13’s absence was
glaring, both to the Court and to the bankruptcy law community at large. The
UST13 certainly knew about the serious allegations of fraud and the
unauthorized practice of law; the In re Steward litigation was not quiet or

obscure. It went on for more than a year and made the local newspapers. The
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Court ultimately reached the demoralizing conclusion that the Office of the
UST13 chose prosecutorial abdication—although why it made that choice is
unknown. The Court realizes that persons affiliated with the Critigue Services
Business are a miserable headache to deal with. They lie; they employ highly
disreputable counsel, like Walton; they do nothing timely, then demand
extensions; they file incoherent pleadings; they make baldly meritless legal
arguments; they demand relief to which they clearly are not entitled; they litigate
in bad faith; they make outlandish allegations; they bad-mouth opposing counsel
and parties with unfounded personal attacks; they frivolously sue judges. The
Court understands that no one likes to be drowned in frivolous pleadings; no one
likes to deal with unprofessionalism. It is unpleasant. But it is not an excuse for
doing nothing.

V. ROBINSON’'S POST-SUSPENSION FAILURE TO RETURN HIS

UNEARNED ATTORNEY’S FEES

By the time Robinson was suspended on June 10, 2014, the Debtors in
these Cases had already paid their attorney’s fees to the Critique Services
Business, and Robinson had already filed five of the eight Cases: In re Moore, In
re Logan, In re Stewart, In re Shields, and In re Beard. However, in four of those
cases—In re Moore, In re Logan, In re Stewart, and In re Shields—the § 341
meetings had not yet been held as of Robinson’s suspension, and Robinson’s
suspension then prevented him from appearing at those 8 341 meetings. As a
result, at the time of his suspension, Robinson had not yet completed his
representation in In re Moore, In re Logan, In re Stewart, and In re Shields.

In the fifth of the five Cases that Robinson filed prior to his suspension—In
re Beard—the § 341 meeting had already been held by the time Robinson was
suspended. However, there nevertheless were still-pending matters in In re
Beard: the debtor had not yet received his discharge; a motion for relief from the
automatic stay had been filed; and the debtor had not yet filed his certificate of
financial management course (which is required to obtain a discharge). As such,
at the time of his suspension, Robinson had not yet completed his representation

of the debtor in In re Beard, either.
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The three other Cases for which Robinson had collected his fees before
his suspension—In re Reed, In re Brady, and In re Long—had not yet been filed
before Robinson was suspended. (Those three Cases later were filed by
Briggs.) As such, at the time of his suspension, Robinson also had not
completed his representation in In re Reed, In re Brady, or In re Long.

V. THE THREE SHOW CAUSE ORDERS ISSUED IN THESE CASES

Section 329(b) provides that the bankruptcy court may order disgorgement
of excessive fees paid to a debtor’s attorney. Fees that were never earned are,
by definition, excessive. Accordingly, on November 26 and December 2, 2014,
the Court issued two show cause orders in these Cases, directing Robinson to
show cause why he should not be ordered to disgorge any unearned fees as
excessive. The Court also directed the chapter 7 trustees in these Cases (the
“Trustees”) to make an accounting of the property of the estates (including
prepetition-paid unearned attorney’s fees, which are property of the estate).
Robinson responded to the show cause orders by suddenly returning all the fees,
while paradoxically insisting that the fees had been entirely earned. He also
insisted that his much-delinquent return of the fees made moot any further inquiry
into where those fees had been held or how they had been used. On December
6, 2014, the Court issued a third show cause order (collectively, with the first two
show cause orders, the “Show Cause Orders”), directing Robinson to show
cause why he should not be sanctioned for having failed to timely return his fees.

Meanwhile, on December 12, 2014, the Trustees filed a motion to compel
turnover pursuant to 8 549(e) (the “Motion to Compel Turnover”), requesting that
the Court compel Robinson, Briggs, and “Critique Legal Services” to turn over
financial information related to the collection and handling of the Debtors’ fees.
On January 13, 2015, a hearing on the Motion to Compel Turnover was held. By
the end of that hearing, Robinson and Briggs agreed to cooperate in the effort to
obtain the requested information. On January 23, 2015, the Court entered an
order granting the Motion to Compel Turnover (the “Order Compelling Turnover”).
On February 4, 2015, the Court held a status conference on compliance with the

Order Compelling Turnover. At that conference, it was established that there had
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not been full compliance with the Order Compelling Turnover. From the bench,
the Court took the matter under advisement.

Over the course of the next fourteen months, the Court gave the
Respondents (i) time to obey the Order Compelling Turnover, (ii) notices that the
Court intended to impose sanctions for the failure to make turnover and for other
bad acts by the Respondents in these Cases, and (iii) the opportunity to respond
and show why sanctions should not be imposed. Still, turnover was not made

and no credible explanation or excuse for the failure to make turnover was given.

SECTION TWO:
THE OPERATIONS AND HISTORY OF
THE CRITIQUE SERVICES BUSINESS

Before setting forth the events that unfolded in these Cases, the Court first
will describe the operations of the Critique Services Business and the previous (and
long) disciplinary history of the persons and entities affiliated with the Critique Services
Business. This is necessary so that the reader of this Memorandum Opinion can
understand how the business works and appreciate why the sanctions and directives
ordered herein are necessary and appropriate. What happened in these Cases is far
from being a first-time event.

|. THE (REAL) PERSONS OF THE CRITIQUE SERVICES BUSINESS
The pleadings, orders, and transcripts referenced in Section Two, Part | are
attached to this Memorandum Opinion at later footnotes herein.
A. Beverly Holmes Diltz

Diltz is the non-attorney owner and organizer of Critique Services L.L.C.
and Critique Legal Services L.L.C., the two companies through which the Critique
Services Business is operated. In her capacity as owner, Diltz controls the acts,
representations, and decisions made by the companies. Diltz also appears to be
an active participant in the Critique Services Business, operating at the Critique
Services Business under the false name “Tracy,” while collecting fees and
dispensing legal advice to clients.
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Diltz began peddling “bankruptcy services” to the public in the mid-to-late

1990s. (As seen in Attachment 75, the UST13 represented in its complaint in In

re Hardge, that Mayweather had been working for Diltz at the Critique Services
Business since 1997.) Diltz quickly ran into trouble on both sides of the
Mississippi. In lllinois, she was sued by the UST for Region 10 (the “UST10").
She was made the subject of a court-ordered investigation and a show cause
order by the U.S. Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of lllinois (the “lllinois
Bankruptcy Court”). She falsely represented herself to be a lawyer in court
pleadings and conducted the unauthorized practice of law. The lllinois
Bankruptcy Court issued several injunctions against her before permanently
barring her from conducting business in that District in 2003.
Contemporaneously in the Eastern District of Missouri (the “District”), Diltz was
sued by the UST13 and had injunctions issued against her related to the
unauthorized practice of law.

Following these injunctions, Diltz modified her business structure, to give
the appearance of more distance between herself and the operations, and to give
the impression that legal services were being rendered by a licensed attorney.
She organized Critique Services L.L.C.> and Critique Legal Services L.L.C.%in
the state of Missouri, and registered to herself the fictitious names “Critique

"% and “Critique Legal Services.”® She then began contracting with

Services
attorneys through her companies, and her attorneys began representing that they
were doing business as “Critique Services” or “Critique Legal Services.”

This new business structure was not designed to prevent the unauthorized
practice of law; it was designed to better hide it. Although the signatures of

attorneys were now being affixed to the paperwork, the “lawyering” was still being

2 Attachment 2.

3 Attachment 3.

4 Attachment 4.

5> Attachment 5.
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done by non-attorney staff persons. So, not surprisingly, persons affiliated with
the Critique Services Business continued to be sued by the UST10 and UST13.
But regardless of the resulting injunctions, disbarments, admonitions,
suspensions, and sanctions, the Critique Services Business continued on,
utilizing a revolving door of disgraced attorneys. When one attorney would be
disciplined or disbarred, Diltz would simply replace him with another—and when
that attorney would be similarly disgraced and disciplined, he also would be
replaced. Diltz is some sort of bankruptcy services Succubus, enticing one
attorney after another into her scam, ultimately leaving each one depleted and
destroyed. As the Court explained in a prior order:

The Critique Services Business never changes its unauthorized
practice of law; it merely changes its facilitating attorneys. Once an
attorney is suspended or disbarred, Diltz simply replaces him with
another, and the cycle begins again. Bearing witness to this are the
carcasses of the various Critique Services Attorneys with putrefied
reputational integrity, rotting in professional disgrace, and discarded

off the web . . .

The Court concluded that, “This is not an unfortunate coincidence or poor
judgment in the hiring process; this is a deliberately arachnidian business
management strategy.”

And these practices continue to this day. Recently, two more injunctive
orders were issued against Diltz and her affiliated persons. Last month, the
Circuit Court of the City of St. Louis, Missouri (the “State Circuit Court”) issued a
temporary restraining order (a “TRO”) against Diltz and numerous other persons
affiliated with the Critique Services Business in State of Missouri, ex rel. Attorney
General Chris Koster v. Beverly Holmes Diltz, et al. (State Circuit Court Case No.
1622-CC00503) (the “2016 MOAG Action”), and this Court (Chief Judge Surratt-
States, presiding) issued a TRO against Diltz, Mayweather, and Critique Services
L.L.C, in Casamatta v. Critique Services L.L.C., et al. (Case No. 16-4025).

B. The Recent and Current Critique Services Attorneys

There are six attorneys who have been affiliated in one capacity or

another with the Critique Services Business in the past five years: Robinson,

Briggs, Dean D. Meriwether, Dedra Brock-Moore, Robert J. Dellamano, and
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Teresa M. Coyle. These six attorneys and their known activities as Critique
Services Attorneys are described below.

There also are another four Critique Services Attorneys known to the
Court, whose affiliations with the business ended some time ago. Those
attorneys are Linda Ruffin-Hudson, Paula Hernandez-Johnson, Leon Sutton, and
George Hudspeth. They are not described below, but their disciplinary histories
as Critique Services Attorneys are set forth in Section Two, Part Ill.

1. James C. Robinson

The records of the Clerk’s Office show that Robinson obtained his CM-
ECF passcode on April 22, 2005, and filed his first case before the Court as a
Critique Services Attorney on May 9, 2005.° On May 10, 2005, he registered to
himself the fictitious name “Critique Services.”” By August 10, 2007, Robinson
was under his current contract with Critique Services L.L.C.% Robinson has
represented in countless cases that he does business as “Critique Services” or
“Critique Services L.L.C.” As noted previously, on June 10, 2014, Robinson was
suspended from the privilege of practicing before this Court for one year.
Following his suspension, Robinson repeatedly violated the terms of his
suspension. He has not yet been reinstated, having failed to even attempt to
comply with the terms for his reinstatement.

Recently, in the 2016 MOAG Action, the MOAG sought and obtained a
preliminary injunction against Robinson. At the hearing on the preliminary
injunction request, the debtor in In re Leander Young (Case No. 15-44343)
identified Robinson as having provided him bankruptcy legal services (following
Robinson’s suspension). In addition, another Critique Services Business client,
Tazia Hampton, described receiving services at the Critique Services Business
Office from an African American man masquerading as Meriwether. (Robinson is

the only African American man known to be affiliated with the business.) In the

® Attachment 6.

" Attachment 7.

8 Attachment 8.
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2016 MOAG Action, the State Circuit Court specifically found that Robinson had
impersonated another attorney at the Critique Services Business and determined
that he was likely to do so again.
2. Ross H. Briggs

Briggs’s connection to the Critique Services Business and close
professional relationship with Diltz goes back at least fifteen years. Moreover,
Briggs’s financial and professional relationship with Diltz is not limited to the
bankruptcy services business. Briggs also has had a profit-sharing agreement
with Diltz, whereby Diltz was paid a percentage of Briggs’'s attorney’s fees in
worker's compensation and personal injury cases (see transcript at Attachment
9). Briggs and Diltz are long-time professional cohorts.®

Briggs has bounced in and out of formal employment with the Critique
Services Business. At points, he was under contract with Diltz and her business.
But even when not working as a formal employee, Briggs has long been “loosely
affiliated” with the Critique Services Business. See Briggs v. LaBarge (In re
Phillips), 433 F.3d 1068, 1070 (8th Cir. 2006). On October 9, 2006, Briggs
registered the fictitious name “Critique Services” himself.’® However, by that
time, he had already been using the fictitious names “Critique Services” and
“Critique Legal Services” for years. Today, Briggs operates his own law office
located at 4144 Lindell Blvd. (the old address of the Critique Services Business),
but continues to be closely connected to the Critique Services Business.

In the past year, Briggs has used the signature block in Court filings:

“Ross H. Briggs, Attorney at Law,” as well as “Ross H. Briggs dba Critique

° Attachment 9. It is unclear from the Firm13 website if Briggs or someone else
from Firm13 files cases in lllinois from Briggs’s Chicago office. A recent search
of the “lawyer search” function of the website for the Attorney Registration &
Disciplinary Commission of the Supreme Court of lllinois indicated that there is
no “Ross Briggs” licensed to practice law in lllinois. The “FAQ” page refers to
Missouri courts and no other attorneys are listed on the Firm13 website.

10 Attachment 10.
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Services.”*! He lists no law firm or law office. His website indicates that his law
office is a business named “Firm13,” located at 4144 Lindell Boulevard address

(see screenshots at Attachment 9).

Briggs’s relationship with Diltz and her business has been consistently
marked by professional malfeasance, both in this District and in the Southern
District of Illinois. As a Critique Services Attorney, Briggs has been repeatedly
admonished by the lllinois Bankruptcy Court against practicing in Illinois without
being properly admitted. In 2001, Briggs and Diltz were joint defendants in an
action brought by the UST10, for their unlawful activities in cases filed in the
lllinois Bankruptcy Court. The result of that lawsuit was that both Diltz and Briggs
were sanctioned, and Briggs was suspended from filing new cases in that court
for three months. In 2003, the Court suspended Briggs from filing new
bankruptcy cases for six months, as a consequence of his professional and
ethical violations while working as a Critique Services Attorney. Also in 2003,
Briggs submitted to the Court a Credit/Debit Card Authorization,** on which he
listed Paula Hernandez-Johnson and Leon Sutton—two other Critique Services
Attorneys (one of whom was later suspended, the other who was later
disbarred)—as persons authorized to use his account number for payment of
Court fees. In 2004, the Court found that Briggs violated Bankruptcy Rule 9011
(the equivalent of Federal Rule of Civil Procedure (“Rule”) 11) while serving as a
Critiqgue Services Attorney.

According to deposition testimony of Diltz taken in In re Rehva Renee
Ericks (Case No. 14-44248), Briggs ended his formal contract with Diltz's
business in August 2012. (The Court does not suggest that Diltz was telling the
truth in her deposition testimony as to any self-serving statement or as to any
statement that is unsupported by credible corroboration.) However, the
termination of his formal contract did not end his relationship with Diltz or her

business. Briggs’s involvement continues today:

11 Attachment 11.

12 aAttachment 12.
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At the January 13, 2015 hearing in these Cases, Trustee Sosne
pointed out that Briggs appears at 8 341 meetings on behalf of clients
of other Critique Services Attorneys—an assertion that Briggs did not
challenge (there are transcripts of § 341 meetings).

In June 2014, Briggs took over the representation of many of
Robinson’s clients following Robinson’s suspension and, in the
process, unsuccessfully tried to aid Robinson in end-running the terms
of his suspension.

At the January 12, 2016 hearing in In re Elainna Doray Hudson (Case
No. 15-40826), the debtor (a Critique Services Business client) testified
that, at her § 341 meeting in April 2015, her attorney of record,
Meriwether, did not appear to represent her. Instead, Ross Briggs
(and the “guy with a goatee”—that would be Dellamano) showed up.
(Briggs and Dellamano were so unprepared to represent her that the
trustee had to instruct them to take the debtor outside the meeting
room and explain what they should be doing for her.)

Now, Briggs is facing sanctions for having made misrepresentations in
these Cases—misrepresentations made in an effort to hide the nature
of his relationship with Diltz and her business, and to help Robinson
and Critique Services L.L.C. avoid being responsive to the Order

Compelling Turnover.

If Briggs ever had an Owl of Minerva, it flew the coop long ago. Common

sense should have sent Briggs running for the hills—as fast and as far as he
could get—numerous injunctions, several suspensions, and many years ago.
His affiliation with Diltz has been only to his reputational detriment. Yet Briggs
keeps coming back to Diltz and the Critique Services Business. And now Briggs
faces sanctions for having made misleading statements in an effort to avoid

making turnover of information related to the Critique Services Business.

Dean D. Meriwether

Meriwether was the first attorney to become Robinson’s rubberstamp

replacement. Although Meriwether holds a Missouri law license, the Missouri
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Supreme Court recently suspended his license for one year for his professional
malfeasance as a Critique Services Attorney. Meriwether entered into a contract
with Critique Services L.L.C. on October 6, 2014.3

According to the records of the Clerk’s Office, Meriwether was admitted to
practice in the District on August 19, 2014, and thereafter obtained a CM-ECF
passcode on September 16, 2014, before filing his first case on October 14,
2014.** On October 8, 2014, Meriwether had the fictitious name “Critique
Services” registered to him.» His address and telephone information on record
with the Court has always been that of Critique Services Business.

Prior to October 2014, Meriwether had never been the attorney of record
in any case before the Court. It quickly became clear that Diltz had not chosen
Meriwether for his bankruptcy expertise or intellectual prowess. Meriwether had
no idea what he was doing, was not exactly quick-on-the-uptake, and showed no
interest in becoming skilled. He bungled pleadings, missed deadlines, failed to
meet with clients, failed to file required documents, abandoned clients, was
ordered to disgorge his fees, and made a fool of himself at a § 341 meeting,
where he was unable to recognize a basic bankruptcy form. Clients have
described him as being both physically and intellectually absent. His practice
before the Court included some of the most incompetent lawyering the Court has
ever encountered.

The transcript of the 8 341 meeting held in In re Sylvia Scales (Case No.
14-49828) offers an example of the breadth and depth of Meriwether’s problems.
At that 8 341 meeting, Meriwether was shown a copy of the Rule 2016 statement
that bore his signature and which he had filed in the case—but he was unable to

13 Attachment 13. Until recently, the Court did not have a copy of Meriwether’s
contract because Critique Services L.L.C. had refused to turn it over, despite
being ordered to do so. However, on February 29, 2016, Mayweather filed a
copy of Meriwether’s contract with Critique Services L.L.C. (trying to pass it off as
her own employment contract), so the Court obtained a copy.

4 Attachment 14.

15 Attachment 15.
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recognize it. It was a breathtaking admission for a purported high-volume
debtor’s attorney. (For context: a Rule 2016 statement is a tool of the trade that
must be filed in every single bankruptcy case by debtor’'s counsel. For a high-
volume debtor’s lawyer to be unable to identify a Rule 2016 statement is akin to a
surgeon being unable to identify a 10-blade. But, of course, a surgeon who
cannot recognize his scalpel cannot rely on his clerical staff to make the incision
and resect the tumor, while his signature is placed on the post-op notes.)
Moreover, by the time of the In re Scales § 341 meeting, Meriwether’s signature
block had been affixed to Rule 2016 statements in scores of cases. His inability
to identify the Rule 2016 statement is very revealing of his real role at the
Critique Services Business. He has nothing to do with the preparation of the
documents to which his signature is affixed.

Meriwether also stated at the § 341 meeting that he has nothing to do with
the handling of his own attorney’s fees. This revelation came after Meriwether
first stated that he is the owner of the Critique Services Business and that all the
cash received from debtors by the business is his cash. In follow-up, the trustee
asked, “[S]o it’'s all your cash and it's all going to show up on your income tax
form?” Presumably spooked by the tax question and its obvious implications,
Meriwether suddenly changed his answer. He explained that the money is not
his, after all, but is that of the “company.” He stated that he is an employee, not
an owner. He stated that he is paid weekly by the business and that his fees are
collected and handled by Mayweather. Then, when asked about what happens
to his attorney’s fees after they are collected by Mayweather, Meriwether advised
that he did not know because he is “not involved with that.” He also explained
that, at the business, he had a hodgepodge of non-attorney bosses, including
Diltz and Mayweather. While very little that Meriwether says is credible, it was
certainly against Meriwether’'s interests to make these admissions about his
ignorance of the custody and handling of his own attorney’s fees.

In his year-and-a-half tenure of practicing before the Court, Meriwether
has been sanctioned twice, has had his CM-ECF privileges suspended, is

suspected of witness tampering, has been found in contempt, and had his fees
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ordered to be disgorged in numerous cases. It seemed almost merciful when he
was finally suspended from the privilege of practicing before the Court for three
months on December 7, 2015. Meriwether did not appeal that suspension. He
has not appeared at any hearing on a motion to disgorge his fees. He has made
no effort to comply with any of the terms necessary for his reinstatement.

On March 1, 2016, the Missouri Supreme Court suspended his law license
for one year, for his professional malfeasance before this Court.
4. Dedra Brock-Moore

Brock-Moore is an attorney who, like Meriwether, was brought into the
Critique Services Business after Robinson’s suspension. On January 1, 2015,
Brock-Moore entered into a contract with Critique Services L.L.C;'® however, she
worked at the Critique Services Business for at least six months prior to that.

According to the records of the Clerk’s Office,!” on August 6, 2014, Brock-
Moore was admitted to practice in the District. On August 8, 2014, she obtained
a CM-ECF passcode. On August 11, 2014, she filed her first case with the
Court. Brock-Moore thereafter appeared as a Critique Services Attorney for
approximately one year. On August 28, 2016, Brock-Moore filed her last case as
a Critique Services Attorney. Sometime thereafter, Brock-Moore updated her
contact information with the Clerk’s Office, indicating that she was practicing
under her own shingle in East St. Louis, lllinois. Today, she continues to
represent those debtors who she represented as a Critique Services Attorney,
but it is the Court’s understanding that she has left her affiliation with the Critique
Services Business.

Brock-Moore first appeared on the Court’'s radar before she was even
admitted to practice in the District. On July 28, 2014, in In re Alexis Montrice

16 Attachment 16. Until recently, the Court did not have a copy of Brock-Moore's
contract because Critique Services L.L.C. had refused to turn it over. However,
on February 29, 2016, Mayweather filed a copy of Brock-Moore’s contract with
Critique Services L.L.C. (trying to pass it off as her own employment contract).

17 Attachment 17.
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Cody (Case No. 14-45917), the debtor, acting pro se, filed her petition.*®
However, the petition papers included Brock-Moore’s “d/b/a Critique Services”
signature block, even though Brock-Moore had not even been admitted to
practice in the District at that point. And, the debtor’'s statement of financial
affairs revealed that the debtor had hired Robinson—not Brock-Moore—to
represent her. It was unclear what had happened to the $299.00 in fees that the
debtor had paid to Robinson, and it was unclear if Brock-Moore was actually
involved with the case. The Court set the matter for hearing, directing that the
debtor appear and inviting Brock-Moore to appear as well.

The Court held the hearing on August 20, 2014.*° Both the debtor and
Brock-Moore appeared. Eventually, what had happened to land Brock-Moore’s
signature block on the debtor’s pro se petition papers was explained. The debtor
had gone to the Critique Services Business and paid for legal services with a
debit card. She did not meet with Robinson, the attorney whose services she
paid for. Instead, she discussed her bankruptcy case with clerical staff and was
told that she must pay all her fees upfront, before she was allowed to speak with
an attorney. In July 2014—after Robinson’s suspension—the debtor returned to
the Critique Services Business Office. She met very briefly with Brock-Moore,
who she understood would become her attorney. However, her case was not
filed thereafter, and she ended up suffering a garnishment. At that point, she
returned to the Critigue Services Office. She was given a refund and was
handed a folder of documents that included the petition papers that had been
drafted for her. Brock-Moore’s signature block was affixed to the drafted petition
papers. The debtor was told, by someone at the Critique Services Office, that
she could use the papers—even with Brock-Moore’s signature block—because
Brock-Moore had not actually signed the documents.

However, during the course of the hearing, Brock-Moore made an odd
representation: in describing her relationship with the non-attorney staff persons

18 Attachment 18.

19 Attachment 109.
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at the Critique Services Business, she stated that she “use[s] the staff there” and
“considers to be my staff” the non-attorney staff persons at the Critique Services
Office. “Considers to be my staff’? What does that mean? Employment status is
not a fuzzy feeling of personal regard. It is a matter of tax and employment law.
This description of her relationship with the non-attorney staff persons at the
Critique Services Business made little sense.

As noted above, it is the Court’'s understanding that Brock-Moore began
disassociating herself from the Critique Services Business in August 2015. She
is the only attorney to have escaped the Critique Services Business without
being suspended or disbarred—no small feat.

5. Robert J. Dellamano

About the time that Brock-Moore began disassociating herself from the
Critique Services Business, the Court became aware of another Robinson
replacement. Robert J. Dellamano. Dellamano was brought into the Critique
Services Business sometime in 2015. When, exactly, in 2015, is unknown,
because Dellamano operated at the Critique Services Business for months
before becoming an attorney of record before the Court. Dellamano has testified
that he is under contract with Meriwether at the Critique Services Business.?

According to the records of the Clerk’s Office, Dellamano was admitted to
practice in the District on October 9, 2015** —a date that, by Dellamano’s own
admission, was long after he began working at the Critique Services Business.
While Dellamano is admitted to practice in this federal District, that admission
rests on his lllinois law license. Dellamano does not hold a Missouri law license.

Prior to becoming a Critique Services Attorney, Dellamano never
represented a party in a case before the Court. His first interaction with the Court
was on September 14, 2015, when he came to the Clerk’s Office to obtain a CM-
ECF passcode and training on the use of CM-ECF. During that interaction,
Dellamano advised members of the Clerk’s Office staff that he had been working
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with Meriwether at the Critigue Services Business. On the training sign-in sheet,
he listed his “firm” as “Critique.”?> The Clerk's Office provided him with the
requested CM-ECF training, but declined to issue him a CM-EFC passcode. (A
CM-ECF passcode is available only to attorneys admitted to practice in the
District. At that time, Dellamano was not admitted to practice in the District). The
Clerk’s Office also notified Chambers of its interaction with Dellamano, given that
it is very unusual for an attorney who is not licensed in this state and who is not
admitted to practice in the District to seek CM-ECF training.

Also around at time, some of the trustees had begun to voice concerns
about Dellamano’s “appearances” on behalf of Meriwether’s clients at their § 341
meetings. Despite not being the attorney of record in any case for any debtor,
and despite not being admitted to practice law in Missouri, and despite not being
admitted to practice in the District, Dellamano had been appearing at the § 341
meetings on behalf of Meriwether's clients. This clearly was inappropriate.
Accordingly, on September 18, 2015, the Court entered a notice to Dellamano,
advising Dellamano that, until he was admitted to practice in the District, he could
not appear on behalf of clients.

Dellamano’s response to the notice was not to change his ways; it was to
try to fly under the Court’s radar. After finally being admitted to practice in the
District on October 9, 2015, Dellamano did not thereafter obtain a CM-ECF
passcode; he did not file a notice of appearance in any case; he did not file a
Rule 2016 statement in any case. Instead, he just continued right on representing
Meriwether’s clients at 8 341 meetings, and meeting with clients at the Critique
Services Business. And, Dellamano continued on this way for several more
months, until Meriwether was suspended on December 7, 2015.

Meriwether’'s suspension forced Dellamano’s hand. Dellamano had to
come out from the shadows of the Critique Services Business. On December 10,
2015, Dellamano obtained a CM-ECF passcode. However, the next day,
Dellamano’s CM-ECF passcode was suspended when the Court learned that

Dellamano had used Meriwether's contact information to obtain a CM-ECF
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passcode in his own name (an act that was prohibited by a prior Court order).
Without a functioning CM-ECF passcode, Dellamano had to use the computer
banks at the Clerk’s Office to file documents.

On December 16, 2015, Dellamano filed notices of appearance on he
Clerk’s Office computers. However, he made false statements in those notices
of appearance. On December 18, 2015, he was suspended from the privilege of
practicing before the Court until March 7, 2016, for making those false
statements. Separately, following the imposition of his suspension, Dellamano
was found to be in contempt of court and was ordered to disgorge fees.

Although March 7, 2016 passed more than a month ago, Dellamano
remains suspended. He has chosen not to comply with the terms for his
reinstatement. He appealed his suspension to the District Court. The appeal is
pending.

6. Teresa M. Coyle

So, by mid-December 2015, Diltz was once again without an attorney to
serve as cover for her business. Robinson, Meriwether and Dellamano had been
suspended and Brock-Moore had left. However, by early February 2016, a
replacement had been found: attorney Teresa M. Coyle.

Like her predecessors, Coyle had no bankruptcy law experience (at least,
not in this District). However, unlike Dellamano, Coyle at least held a law license
to practice in this state (well, sort of—more about that in a few paragraphs).

According to the records of the Clerk’'s Office, Coyle was admitted to
practice in the District on January 28, 2016. 2 She was issued a CM-ECF
passcode on February 8, 2016, and filed her first case on February 28, 2016.
Thereatfter, she filed three more cases: two on March 2, 2016, In re Jacobi D.
Oliphant (Case No. 16-41356) and In re Shaunice Williams (Case No. 16-41377),
and one on March 7, 2016, In re Brian Michael Troupe (Case No. 16-41483).

Although Coyle is not currently located at the Critique Services Business

Office and does not use “Critique Services” as her d/b/a, she nevertheless is
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affiliated with the Critique Services Business. She is the attorney to whom
Meriwether purportedly “transferred” some of his cases (whatever that means)
and to whom the Critique Services Business has been “referring” clients.

Coyle’s very brief tenure before the Court has not gone well. Coyle filed
the petition papers in In re Williams, In re Oliphant, and In re Troupe after the
Missouri Supreme Court suspended her license on March 1, 2016. Moreover,
Coyle did not self-report that her license was suspended. The Court discovered
that Coyle’s license suspended only by happenchance, on March 7, 2016.

But before the Court became aware of the suspension of Coyle’'s law
license, the Court was presented with another problematic situation. It had come
to the Court’s attention that Mayweather may have provided bankruptcy services
to Coyle. This was concerning because Mayweather is enjoined from providing
bankruptcy services unless she is under a written contract with an attorney or a
law business. On March 3, 2016, the Court issued an order in In re Williams,
directing Coyle to file documents and an affidavit describing her relationship with
Mayweather. Coyle was given until March 11, 2016 to comply.

Three things then happened, before the March 11, 2016 deadline:

e First, on March 4, 2016, Mayweather herself confirmed that she had
provided bankruptcy services at Coyle’s office. Mayweather filed an
affidavit in the miscellaneous proceeding, In re Renee Mayweather:
Business of the Court (Case No. 16-0401), attesting that she had
assisted in the “transfer” of Meriwether’s client files to Coyle’s office.

e Second, on March 7, 2016, the Court learned that Coyle’s law license
has been suspended. Upon obtaining the Missouri Supreme Court’s
suspension order, the Court suspended Coyle’s CM-ECF passcode,
pursuant to the Court’s standard procedure.

e Third, on March 11, 2016, Critique Services L.L.C. and Diltz filed a
response in the State Circuit Court in the 2016 MOAG Action, in which
they admitted that they “referred” cases to Coyle.

On March 15, 2016, the Court entered an order suspending Coyle from the
privilege of practicing before the Court. Her suspension is to remain in effect
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until such time as she complies with the March 3, 2016 order and provides an
affidavit attesting to the nature of her previous and current relationship with
persons affiliated with the Critique Services Business. To date, Coyle has
chosen not to comply and remains suspended. In addition, in late March 2016,
the Chief Judge of the Court held a show cause hearing, at which Coyle failed to
appear. The Chief Judge ordered that Coyle be stricken as attorney of record in
all cases that she filed and ordered that Coyle disgorge her attorney’s fees.
C. The Limited Liability Companies

Diltz owns three limited liability companies that are located at the Critique
Services Office Building: Critique Services L.L.C.; Critique Legal Services L.L.C.;
and Genesis Advertising, Marketing and Business Services L.L.C. (“Genesis”). It
is known that Diltz operates the Critique Services Business through Critique
Services L.L.C. and Critique Legal Services L.L.C. The role of Genesis—which
was organized only recently—is unknown.

1. Critique Services L.L.C.

Critique Services L.L.C.'s Articles of Organization provide that the
company was organized on August 9, 2002. It has continually operated since
then. Its Articles of Organization state that its business purpose is to provide
“bankruptcy petition preparation service.” However, in 2007, Diltz and Critique
Services L.L.C. were permanently enjoined from serving as BPPs. As such,
Critique Services L.L.C. has been long barred from conducting the only type of
business for which it is organized. The address for service of Critique Services
L.L.C. for the past half-decade also is unknown. Its Articles of Organization list
its address as 4144 Lindell Blvd. The Articles of Organization were not amended
and no document updating the address is available in the online records of the
Missouri Secretary of State. However—as the Clerk’s Office discovered during
its recent efforts to obtain an address for Critique Services L.L.C.—the company
has not been located at 4144 Lindell Blvd. for at least the past five years.?*

Critique Services L.L.C. uses the fictitious name of “Critique Services™—

the same fictitious name that also is used by Diltz and by the Critique Services
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Attorneys. This use of the fictitious name by non-attorneys, attorneys, and an
artificial business entity has contributed to serious confusion (by clients, the
public and the courts) about who (and what) is “Critique Services.”

Critique Services L.L.C. is the entity currently used by Diltz to contract with
attorneys. The contracts between Critique Services L.L.C. and the Critique
Services Attorneys call for Critique Services L.L.C. to provide an assortment of
services, including leasing, bookkeeping, advertising, and secretarial services,
and licensing of “intellectual property.” In exchange, the Critique Services
Attorneys are supposed to make payments to Critique Services L.L.C. However,
these contracts do not reflect the real relationship between Critique Services
L.L.C. and the attorneys. At the In re Scales § 341 meeting, Meriwether
explained how things really work. Meriwether works for Diltz, Mayweather and
various other non-attorneys at the business—not the other way around. And
Meriwether is paid by Critique Services L.L.C., not the other way around.

Despite the terms of the contracts that call for Critique Services L.L.C. to
provide extensive services to the attorneys, and contrary to Meriwether’s
explanation of how the business works, Critique Services L.L.C. currently claims
that (i) it has only one employee (Diltz), (ii) that all the non-attorney staff persons
at the Critique Services Business are actually the employees of the Critique
Services Attorneys, and (iii) it did not provide such bookkeeping services to
Robinson. Critique Services L.L.C. takes these positions only through the
unsworn representations of its attorney, Laurence Mass. However, Mass is not
known for being a consistently correct source of information about the facts and
circumstances of his own clients.

There is no reason to believe Critique Services L.L.C.’s claim that it has
only one employee, and every reason to believe that Critique Services L.L.C. is
lying. First, Critique Services L.L.C. is contractually obligated to provide
numerous support services to the Critique Services Attorneys. Second, there is
no evidence that the contracts with the attorneys have been modified to relieve
Critique Services L.L.C. of its bookkeeping obligations. Third, the Critique
Services Attorneys do not back up Critique Services L.L.C.’s claim that the
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attorneys employ the non-attorney staff persons: Robinson dodged the issue
altogether; Brock-Moore represented that she merely “considered” the non-
attorney staff persons to be her employees (whatever that might mean); and
Meriwether stated that the non-attorney staff persons are not his employees.
Fourth, when Critique Services L.L.C. was invited by the Court to provide tax
documentation as evidence in support of its claim that Diltz is its only employee,
it refused to do so, claiming that any such evidence is “irrelevant.”

2. Critique Legal Services L.L.C.

Critique Legal Services L.L.C.’s Articles of Organization provide that, like
Critique Services L.L.C., it was organized by Diltz on August 9, 2002. Critique
Legal Services L.L.C. has used the fictitious name “Critique Legal Services,” as
have Diltz and Briggs. Despite the misleading word “Legal” in its name, Critique
Legal Services L.L.C. is not a law firm.

Critique Legal Services L.L.C. was dissolved on April 4, 2003. %
Nevertheless, it is an active advertising arm of the Critique Services Business
today. As the Clerk’s Office discovered during its recent effort to obtain a service
address for Critique Services L.L.C., “Critique Legal Services” advertises in the
2015-16 Greater St. Louis Yellow Pages and has a listing in the 2015-16 Greater
St. Louis White Pages.?® These directories list the address and telephone
number for “Critique Legal Services” as being that of the Critique Services
Business Office.

And—as if it is not suspicious enough that a ten-year-plus defunct
company advertises in the current Yellow Pages—the listing for “Critique Legal
Services” is not under the subsection “lawyers” or “legal” or “bankruptcy services”
or the like; it is under the subsection “tax preparation.” According to its Articles of
Organization, the business was organized to provide “attorney services.”
Whatever the vague phrase “attorney services” might mean, it cannot possibly
mean “to provide tax preparation services to the public.” The listing under “tax
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preparation” may be an attempt to skate around the injunction entered against
Critique Legal Services L.L.C. in In re Thompson (Case No. 02-53575). That
injunction prohibits Critique Legal Services L.L.C. and Diltz from using the word
‘legal’ or any similar term in any advertisements, and from advertising under any
category that includes the word “legal” or any similar term.

3. Genesis Advertising, Marketing and Business Services L.L.C.

By January 2016, it was safe to say that the value of the name “Critique
Services” was collapsing in the face of bad press, the suspensions of the Critique
Services Attorneys, angry clients, a negative Better Business Bureau (“BBB”)
grade, and multiple orders for disgorgement of attorney’s fees. On February 2,
2016, Diltz organized a new, non-“Critique”-named limited liability company:
Genesis. According to Genesis'’s Articles of Organization,®’ its business purpose
is “Advertising, Marketing, and Business Services.” Its address is that of the
Critique Services Business Office. It is unknown what role, if any, Genesis was
intended to have in the Critique Services Business.

D. The Other, Non-Attorney Staff Persons

Various non-attorney staff persons work at the Critique Services Business
Office. Those persons who are known to the Court are described below.

1. Renee Mayweather

As previously noted, Mayweather is the long-time office manager at the
Critique Services Business. Mayweather's authority at the Critique Services
Business is so significant that Meriwether described her as his boss.

In 2005, Mayweather was one of several Critique Services Business
persons sued by the UST13 in Gargula v. Diltz, et al. (In re David Hardge) for the
unauthorized practice of law and violations of the Bankruptcy Code’s regulations
on BPPs. In the complaint, the UST13 represented that Mayweather had been
affiliated with the Critique Services Business since 1997, beginning as a data
enterer and eventually becoming the officer manager. According to the UST13,
“Mayweather has carried out her responsibilities under the supervision, direction

and control of [Diltz.]”
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The UST13’s 2005 suit was resolved by the entry of a consent injunction
(the “2007 Injunction”). In the 2007 Injunction, the Court prohibited Mayweather
from the unauthorized practice of law and enjoined her from providing bankruptcy
services to the public, except under specific circumstances:

[Mayweather] may only engage in providing bankruptcy services to
the public as an employee under written contract with an attorney
or business organization whose primary business is the practice of
law. She agrees that she is permanently enjoined from engaging in
bankruptcy document preparation services on behalf of Defendant
Diltz and Her Interests.

Following the entry of the 2007 Injunction, Mayweather continued providing
bankruptcy services at the Critique Services Business. However, when she was
required to produce a copy of any written employment contract she has or had
with any attorney or law business, she could not do so. Ultimately, she claimed
that she is under oral contracts with Critique Services Attorneys. The Court
seriously doubts that Mayweather is an actual employee of any attorney.
However, even if she were an employee of a Critique Services Attorney, she
would be in flagrant violation of the 2007 Injunction by providing bankruptcy
services pursuant to an oral, and not a written, contract.

Mayweather is the person who oversees Critique Services Business
operations on a day-to-day basis, collects the money, and controls access to (or,
better stated, lack of access to) attorneys. She dispenses legal advice and
analysis. Clients are denied access to attorneys and are instead required to
speak with Mayweather. Mayweather also lies to clients. For example, she
falsely advised the debtor in In re Young that the problems with his case were
due to the purported animosity of the Judge, rather than being due to the fact that
the Critique Services Business had badly mismanaged the debtor’s case.

Mayweather’s prominent role at the Critique Services Business has been
made obvious at the Clerk’s Office. On December 18, 2015, Mayweather and
Dellamano showed up together at the Clerk’s Office, and asked if Mayweather
could file legal documents for Dellamano at the computer banks. Mayweather
and Dellamano seem to have expected the Clerk’s Office to allow Mayweather to

use its computers to “engage in providing bankruptcy services to the public” on
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the assumption that Mayweather would not be violating the 2007 Injunction in the
process. The Clerk’'s Office staff—well-aware of the 2007 Injunction and the
notorious history of the Critique Services Business—informed Mayweather that
she would not be permitted to use its computers unless she had written authority
from the Judge to do so. Mayweather and Dellamano left and did not return.

Mayweather, like Diltz, recently was made subject to TROs issued by the
State Circuit Court in the 2016 MOAG Action, and by the Court in Casamatta v.
Critique Services L.L.C., et al.

2. Charlotte Thomas and Bey

A non-attorney named Charlotte Thomas works at the Critique Services
Business. The exact role of Charlotte is unclear, but part of her job involves
communication with clients. Various debtors have identified Charlotte as the
person to whom they paid their fees and who provided them counseling on their
case. Receipts provided by the Debtors in these Cases show that Charlotte is
one of the persons who handled their fees.

Getting disclosure of Charlotte’s last name proved to be considerably
more difficult than it should have been. At the February 4, 2015 proceeding in
these Cases, the Court asked Mass and Briggs for the surname of “Charlotte,”
but they could not (or would not) provide this very basic information. They
seemed surprised (or, at least, feigned surprise) that Charlotte’s surname would
be requested—as if disclosure of the surname of one of the people who handled
the Debtors’ fees would be a far-afield inquiry at a hearing about turnover
regarding the Debtors’ fees. A five-minute recess and a telephone call to the
Critique Services Business Office should have solved the problem—but no one
took that step. Eventually, the last name of Charlotte became known to the
Court, when one of the Trustees in these Cases—Trustee Rebecca Case—filed
a copy of the In re Scales § 341 meeting transcript, wherein Meriwether identified
Charlotte’s last name as “Thomas.”

At the February 4 status conference, it also came out that a non-attorney
staff woman named Bey works at the Critique Services Business. Her last name

remains unknown to the Court. Her job title and role, like those of Charlotte
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Thomas, are unknown, but it is known that she communicates with clients.
Numerous debtors have identified Bey as the person who collected their fees and
counseled them on their cases, and some of the Debtors in these Cases
provided receipts showing that Bey handled their fees.
3. Dee

Another surname-less non-attorney staff person at the Critique Services
Business is Dee. It was established in In re Steward that, at the relevant times in
that case, “Dee” worked at the Critique Services Business Office, collected the
debtor's payments, gave legal advice, and solicited false statements from the
debtor for inclusion in the debtor’s petition papers.
4, Korie and Shey

These two non-attorney staff persons at the Critique Services Business
were revealed at the In re Scales 8 341 meeting, when Meriwether identified
them as being among the non-attorney staff persons who supervise him.
Meriwether spelled out their first names, although he did not identify their
surnames. Their roles (other than to direct Meriwether’s activities) are unknown.
5. Nicky Lee

Critique Services L.L.C. and Diltz have identified a woman named “Nicky
Lee” as a person who worked at the Critique Services Business Office as a
“‘customer service representative.” Critigue Services L.L.C. and Diltz recently
represented to the Court that Lee handled fees and answered questions from
clients who had come to the business seeking legal counsel. Critique Services
L.L.C. and Diltz also claim that Lee was an employee of a Critigue Services
Attorney, although they failed to identify which attorney. Apparently, the Court is
just supposed to guess which attorney Lee allegedly worked for—although no
guess that the Court could make would make their claim any more credible.
Robinson was suspended and thus would not (or at least, should not) have been
employing anyone to collect money or answer questions regarding bankruptcy
services; Brock-Moore stated that she merely “considered” the non-attorney staff
persons to be her employees; and Meriwether stated that none of the non-

attorney staff persons were his employees.
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[I. THE (PHONY) PERSONS OF THE CRITIQUE SERVICES BUSINESS

In addition to the actual persons who operate at the Critigue Services
Business, there also are phony persons who operate at the Critique Services
Business. Numerous debtors have alleged and attested before the Court that
Diltz uses “Tracy” as her a nom de guerre de tromperie. In addition, it appears
that both Dellamano and Robinson have impersonated Meriwether to clients.

A. The Phony “Tracy”

On November 24, 2015, the Court first became aware that a woman
calling herself “Tracy” was providing bankruptcy services at the Critique Services
Business when the debtor in In re Young filed his pro se motion to reopen his
case. In his motion, Debtor Young identified a woman named “Tracy” as being
affiliated with the Critique Services Business. At the time, the Court found this
representation to be curious since, to the Court’s knowledge, there was no one at
the Critique Services Business named “Tracy.”

On February 23, 2016, “Tracy” came up again at the hearing on the
motion to disgorge filed in In re Kevin Matthis (Case No. 15-48394).%® The
debtor stated he received services at the Critique Services Business from a
woman who he believed was named “Tracy.” The Court also heard from the
Trustee Brown, the trustee appointed in In re Matthis (whose first name
coincidentally also is “Tracy” and who apparently has had encountered issues
related to having the same first name as the Critique Services Business “Tracy”).
Trustee Brown indicated that this was not the first time she had heard about a
“Tracy” at the Critique Services Business—and that she had been advised that
Diltz was posing as a “Tracy.” However, she had no witness at the hearing to
testify on the issue or any further information to offer at that point.

Then, on March 3, 2016, “Tracy” came up once again, in the case of In re
Prenisa Little (Case No. 15-48605). In the debtor's motion to disgorge, the
debtor stated that she had spoken with a “customer service agent” at the Critique
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Services Business named “Tracy.”®

She also alleged that that “Tracy” had
provided her with legal counsel regarding her bankruptcy case.

On March 4, 2016, the Court issued an order in In re Little, *° directing that
Meriwether and Critique Services L.L.C. file any response that they might have to
the debtor’'s motion to disgorge, and that the trustee (Trustee Case) make “good
faith efforts to ascertain the surname of the ‘Tracy’ individual who is alleged to
work at the Critique Services Business.”

On March 17, 2016, Trustee Case filed her first Statement of Findings (the
“First Statement of Findings”).*! Her findings were alarming.

Trustee Case had contacted numerous people affiliated with the Critique
Services Business to ascertain the last name of “Tracy.” Only Mass responded,
stating in an email that his clients were not aware of anyone named “Tracy” at
the business. However, her efforts to obtain the last name of “Tracy” from
debtors were more fruitful. Although Trustee Case still was unable to obtain the
last name of “Tracy,” there appeared to be a good explanation for why she could
not: the debtors identified Diltz as the woman they knew to be “Tracy.”

Debtor Little executed an affidavit in which she attested that the
photograph of Diltz from the website of the BBB was an image of the “Critique
Services employee” who introduced herself as “Tracy.” She also attested that
“Tracy” and Renee spoke with her regarding her case, just as she had alleged in
her motion to disgorge. Debtor Little’s affidavit was filed along with the First
Statement of Findings. *

Debtor Christopher Dandridge (Case No. 16-40644) also executed an
affidavit in which he identified Diltz as “Tracy” via the BBB photograph. In

addition, he attested that Diltz, as “Tracy”: (i) provided him with legal advice
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regarding his bankruptcy case by discussing the differences between chapter 7
and chapter 13 proceedings and the treatment of his car in bankruptcy, and (ii)
accepted his $349.00 cash payment and gave him a signed receipt for that
payment. Further, he attested that, when he was later given a refund (after
demanding one), both Diltz and Mayweather handled the cash: Diltz handed the
cash to Mayweather, then Mayweather handed the cash to him. Debtor
Dandridge attached to his affidavit a photocopy of his receipt, which was
unmistakably signed by “Tracy.” The Court notes that the “Tracy” signature is
very similar to the highly stylized handwriting style of Diltz.>* Debtor Dandridge’s
affidavit was filed along with the First Statement of Findings.>*

In addition to providing these two affidavits identifying Diltz as “Tracy,”
Trustee Case also made attestations about a response she obtained from Debtor
Young.*® (To recall: Debtor Young referenced a “Tracy” in his November 14,
2015 motion to reopen. He alleged a “Tracy” from the Critique Services
Business showed up at his 8 341 meeting and took his paperwork.) When Debtor
Young looked at the photograph of Diltz, he advised Trustee Case that it was not
an image of the woman from his 8§ 341 meeting. Trustee Case then contacted the
trustee in In re Young, who reviewed his records and advised that Brock-Moore
had appeared for Debtor Young at his 8§ 341 hearing. (Brock-Moore, like many of
the other women who work at the Critigue Services Business—including Diltz,
Mayweather, Charlotte, and Bey—is African American.) Debtor Young then
obtained a picture of Brock-Moore from the Internet and confirmed to Trustee
Case that Brock-Moore was the woman at his § 341 meeting. All of this, of
course, raises the obvious question: How did Debtor Young come to believe that
a woman named “Tracy” was affiliated with the Critique Services Business—so
much so that he believed that “Tracy” was Brock-Moore’s first name? It seems
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highly unlikely that Debtor Young randomly pulled the name “Tracy” out of the
thin air. It seems equally unlikely that Debtor Young piggybacked off another
debtor’s reference to a “Tracy” (Debtor Young was the first debtor to indicate to
the Court that he interacted with a “Tracy”). It seems considerably more likely
that Debtor Young was introduced to another African American woman at the
Critique Services Business who called herself “Tracy,” then later mistakenly
attributed the name “Tracy” to Brock-Moore. Whatever the explanation, Debtor
Young's representation of a woman at the Critique Services Business as being
named “Tracy” defies coincidence.

In light of the Statement of Findings, on March 18, 2016, the Court issued
an order directing that Diltz and Critique Services L.L.C. file any response they
might have to the identifications of Diltz as “Tracy.”

On March 28, 2016, Mass filed a response to the First Statement of
Findings and the affidavits. ** In the response, Mass demanded judicial
disqualification and alleged constitutional violations. He also suggested that,
because Debtor Dandridge’s case is on the docket of Judge Schermer, it is
somehow improper to consider Debtor Dandridge’s affidavit. However—
interestingly—Mass did not deny that Diltz had represented herself to clients as
“Tracy.” Instead, he just pointed to the fact that he had stated to Trustee Case
that his clients claimed to have only one person who conducts its business (Diltz)

and that the attorneys did not have an employee named ‘Tracy™ (a fact that was
evidence of nothing, other than the fact that Mass made this communication).

In addition, Mass claimed that the affidavits had not been signed and that
Debtor Dandridge’s receipt had not been filed. This claim was so obviously
incorrect that the law clerk telephoned Mass as a professional courtesy, to ask if
he was aware of all docketed documents. Mass confirmed that he had become
aware of the full docket after he filed the response, and indicated that he would
file a new response. On March 29, 2016, Mass filed a motion for an extension of
time to respond, which the Court granted on March 30, 2016.

In the meantime, Trustee Case filed a Second Statement of Findings (the

3¢ Attachment 36.

49



“Second Statement of Findings”).*” The Second Statement of Findings revealed
that two more debtors were subject to the Diltz-as-“Tracy” routine.

Debtor Kelli L. Alexander (Case No. 15-47867) executed an affidavit in
which she identified Diltz as “Tracy” via the BBB photograph. She attested that
Diltz, as “Tracy,” met with her, advised her, and instructed her to re-sign her
bankruptcy documents. Debtor Alexander also attested that non-attorney staff
persons Charlotte or Bey gave her legal advice regarding the discharge of her
tax debt in bankruptcy. Debtor Alexander’'s affidavit was filed along with the
Second Statement of Findings.>®

Debtor Twauna F. Dethrow (Case No. 15-47861) executed an affidavit in
which she identified Diltz as “Tracy” via the BBB photograph. She also attested
that Diltz, as “Tracy,” met with her, collected her fee, and gave her a receipt. A
copy of that receipt was attached to Debtor Dethrow’s affidavit. Like the receipt
handed to Debtor Dandridge, the receipt given to Debtor Dethrow was clearly
signed as “Tracy” and the handwriting appears very similar to be that of Diltz.
Debtor Dethrow's affidavit was filed along with the Second Statement of
Findings.>®

On April 14, 2016, Mass filed a document that appeared to be in response
to both Statements of Findings. *° (He captioned the document: “An Additional
Response to the Most Recent Show Cause Order Issued in this Case.”
However, no show cause order had been issued in connection with the directive
issued to Trustee Case to make efforts to ascertain the last name of “Tracy.”)
Mass stated that his clients cannot find any files for Debtors Dandridge,
Alexander or Dethrow. He did not challenge the accuracy of the attesting

debtors’ identifications or challenge the truth of the attestations. And—perhaps
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notably—Mass again did not address the issue of whether Diltz had used the
fake name “Tracy.” Instead, he just stated that his clients “reiterate that no
person named ‘Tracy’ was employed by Critique Services, LLC or, to [his clients’]
knowledge, worked for any attorney with a contract with Critique Services, LLC.”
This struck the Court as a truly odd response to the attestations that Diltz falsely
represented herself as “Tracy.” By that point, of course, there was little reason to
think that there was a person actually named “Tracy” working at the Critique
Services Business; there was, however, growing reason to think that Diltz was
using the fake identity “Tracy” to do business (and collect fees and dispense
legal advice). Moreover, if Diltz obtained money using a fraudulent identity, that
would be a serious—and possibly criminal—matter. Mass did not assert the Fifth
Amendment on behalf of Diltz, but he also filed a document that awkwardly and
obviously avoided speaking to the real issue.
B. The Phony Meriwether

At the March 10, 2016 hearing in Casamatta v. Critique Services L.L.C., et
al., Critiqgue Services Business client Damon Dorris testified that he paid a man at
the Critique Services Business Office—a man he later came to know as
Dellamano—%$349.00 for bankruptcy services. However, at the time, Mr. Dorris
was led to believe that the man was named Meriwether. Mr. Dorris stuck firmly to
his testimony, even under cross-examination.** Moreover, Dellamano appears
not to be the only person at the Critique Services Business masquerading as
Meriwether. At the March 23, 2016 hearing before the State Circuit Court, a
Critique Services Business client named Tazia Hampton testified that when she
went to the Critique Services Business Office on June 30, 2015, she was met by
an African American male who identified himself as Meriwether. Ms. Hampton
testified that the Meriwether imposter advised her on her bankruptcy case and
collected payment from her at the end of the meeting. In its preliminary
injunction, the State Circuit Court determined that Mr. Robinson had
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impersonated a lawyer affiliated with Critique Services L.L.C.*
lll. THE HISTORY OF LEGAL ACTIONS, DISBARMENTS, SUSPENSIONS,

INJUNCTIONS, TEMPORARY RESTRAINING ORDERS, JUDICIAL
DETERMINATIONS, AND DIRECTIVES AGAINST PERSONS AFFILIATED WITH

THE CRITIQUE SERVICES BUSINESS

Sanctions are not imposed in a vacuum. The appropriateness sanctions
is determined by the acts for which they are being imposed as well as in light of
previous sanctions efforts that may have failed. The Court need not pretend
blindness to history. Accordingly, to give context for the sanctions imposed
herein, the Court will undertake the arduous task of setting forth the disciplinary
history of persons affiliated with the Critique Services Business, as the Court
knows that history to be. The Court seeks to make it clear: the imposition of
sanctions herein is not the first time these Respondents have been in trouble for
their bad acts while affiliated with the Critique Services Business, and their
activities in these Cases are consistent with the notorious history of the
operations of this business. And previous efforts with lesser sanctions have
failed to garner lawful behavior.

The efforts to stop the unlawful activities at Critique Services Business go
back at least fifteen years. They span the Mississippi River and involve two
federal judicial districts, two federal judicial circuits, two UST regions, and the
State Circuit Court. However, there is a marked contrast between the amount of
success seen by the UST10 and that seen by the UST13 in stopping the fraud.
In 2003, the UST10 obtained an injunction from the lllinois Bankruptcy Court
permanently expelling Diltz and her business from the Southern District of lllinois.
As such, the sue-and-negotiate-a-meaningless-consent-injunction treadmill was
ended in the Southern District of Illinois more than a decade ago. By contrast,
the UST13’s strategy in this District—which has involved a string of consent
injunctions—has been an exercise in Sisyphean futility. Every couple of years,
the UST13 brings an action against persons affiliated with the Critique Services
Business on claims related to the unlawful practice of law and the violation of a
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prior injunction and, thereafter, a consent injunction is negotiated. But each new
injunction has turned out to be nothing more than cosmetic win-on-paper in the
UST13's litigation column. It made for good political optics, perhaps, but proved
to be of little consequence in rectifying the problem. Afterward, those affiliated
with the Critique Services Business returned to their business of the
unauthorized practice of law, secure in the knowledge that they probably had a
couple of years of breathing room before they would be sued again.

So, today, the Court finds itself in the position of having to set forth the
history of the last near-twenty years. It is a history that includes disbarred,
suspended and discredited attorneys, blatant misconduct, client abandonment,
repeated lawsuits, ineffective sanctions, ignored injunctions, and the unrepentant
refusal to stop the unauthorized practice of law—and millions of dollars in
attorney’s fees. Moreover, the disciplinary record of those affiliated with the
Critique Services Business continues unfolding to this day, in the matters before
this Court, the District Court, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit (the
“Eighth Circuit”), the State Circuit Court, and the OCDC.

A. The 1999 Injunction Against Diltz d/b/a Critique Servicel[s]

Diltz began operating her “bankruptcy services” business in the District
sometime in the mid-to-late 1990s. It did not take long before she was sued for
unlawful practices. On March 5, 1999, the UST13 filed a complaint, commencing
Pelofsky v. Holmes d/b/a Critique Service (In re Daniele M. Hamilton) (Case No.
99-4065), suing Diltz “d/b/a Critique Service” on claims related to the

unauthorized practice of law. *3

Shortly thereafter, the Court entered a pre-
negotiated Consent Permanent Injunction, pursuant to which Diltz was barred,
when acting as a BPP, from engaging in or directing others in the unauthorized
practice of law. **

B. The 2001 Injunction Against Diltz d/b/a Critique Service[s]

On October 31, 2001, the UST13 filed another complaint, commencing
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Pelofsky v. Holmes d/b/a Critique Service (In re Beatrice Bass) (Case No. 01-
4333), again suing Diltz “d/b/a Critique Service” on claims related to the
unauthorized practice of law. *° Less than a month later, on November 20, 2001,
the Court entered a Consent Permanent Injunction and Court Order (the “2001
Injunction”).*® Diltz again agreed to refrain from the unauthorized practice of law
and to be permanently enjoined from engaging herself or assisting others in the
preparation of bankruptcy documents as a BPP. However, there was a carve-out:
in the capacity of an employee or an independent contractor of an attorney, Diltz
could carry out the duties of a non-attorney assistant, including in the assisting in
the preparation of bankruptcy documents.
C. The 2002 Order Sustaining the Trustee’s Objection to Briggs’s Fees and
Directing Briggs to Comply with the Law

In December 2002, Briggs left formal employment with the Critique
Services Business. (Briggs’s employment history—as it was known to the Eighth
Circuit on the facts presented in that case, is set forth in Briggs v. LaBarge (In re
Phillips)). However, on September 25, 2002, a few months before Briggs left the
business (for the first time), the UST13 filed an objection in In re Jerome Hicks
(Case No. 02-49006).*” The UST13 objected to Briggs’'s request for attorney’s
fees in that case, alleging, among other things, that:

e Briggs signed the petition as the attorney, although he failed to

complete the line for the date of his signature.
e The debtor testified at his 8§ 341 meeting that he did not meet with an
attorney prior to the filing of his bankruptcy petition.
e Briggs signed the debtor’s petition without ever having met the debtor;
e The debtor did not meet Briggs until his § 341 meeting.

e The schedules of assets and liabilities (“schedules”) and statements of
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financial affairs filed by Briggs were incomplete and incorrect.
e There were numerous failures in disclosing required information.
On October 31, 2002, the Bankruptcy Court entered a consent order resolving
the objection,*® in which Briggs agreed that he would: return to the debtor the
monies the debtor paid; comply with the Bankruptcy Code, the Bankruptcy Rules,
and the Local Bankruptcy Rules (things he was obligated to do, anyway); attend
§ 341 meetings, confirmation hearings and other required hearings on behalf of
his clients (again, things that he was required to do, anyway); not file a petition
for bankruptcy relief without having first met with the client (a basic ethical
obligation he already had); and comply with Missouri Supreme Court Rules of
Professional Responsibility (i) governing an attorney’s responsibility to supervise
his non-attorney assistants and (ii) prohibiting attorneys from being in practice
with non-attorneys (once again, something he was supposed to be doing).
D. The 2002 Injunction and Admonition Issued by the lllinois Bankruptcy
Court against Diltz and Briggs Regarding the Unauthorized Practice of Law
Meanwhile, similar malfeasance was occurring in neighboring East St.
Louis, lllinois. Sometime prior to July 22, 2002, the lllinois Bankruptcy Court
issued one or more orders, injunctions, and admonitions related to Diltz and
Briggs. The Court is aware of these previous directives because they are
referenced by the lllinois Bankruptcy Court in In re Robert Wigfall, Jr. (Bankr.
S.D. lll. Case No. 02-32059):
e On the July 24, 2002 In re Wigfall docket entry,* the court noted that
“[a]n Order is to enter for Beverly Holmes and Critique Legal Services
to appear at a date certain to show cause why they should not be
further sanctioned for their violation of this Court's prior Orders and
restrictions placed upon them . ..”
e In its July 25, 2002 show cause order in In re Wigfall, the Court

observed that “Briggs, who is an attorney licensed in Missouri, has
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been admonished previously that he must seek general admission to

practice in this District or admission pro hac vice for each case that he

files. Mr. Briggs had failed to do either as of the time of the hearing.”

e In its August 15, 2002 order in In re Wigfall, the court directed that

Diltz, Critigue Legal Services and Briggs show cause why they should

not be sanctioned “for their violation of the Court’s prior injunction . . .”
The Court has not been able to easily determine the names of the cases in which
these prior directives were issued. The cases are old and the In re Wigfall judge
is now retired. But it is clear: Diltz and Briggs have long been on notice to clean
up their act and cease the unauthorized practice of law.

E. The 2002 Order Issued by the lllinois Bankruptcy Court (i) Suspending
Briggs, (ii) Enjoining Diltz and Critique Legal Services, and (iii) Imposing
Monetary Sanctions Against Diltz, Critique Legal Services, and Briggs

On May 31, 2002, debtor Robert Wigfall, Jr., proceeding pro se, filed a
petition for chapter 13 bankruptcy relief in the lllinois Bankruptcy Court. On June
18, 2003, the case was dismissed for the debtor’s failure to file a chapter 13 plan
and failure to file a declaration of a bankruptcy petition preparer. On June 28,
2002, the debtor filed a chapter 13 plan, along with a motion to reinstate the
case. On July 3, 2002, the trustee filed an objection to the motion to reinstate.
The motion to reinstate and the objection thereto came for hearing on July 24,
2002. As reflected in the docket notes, the Illinois Bankruptcy Court directed the
UST10 to investigate the issues raised at the hearing. The court determined:

Upon review of the record, this Court finds that Beverly Holmes
[Diltz] of Critique Legal Services has prepared the debtor’s petition.
The debtor represents to the Court that he did not fill out his
schedule of exemptions and that [Diltz’s] service put the information
on the schedule. This Court questions if [Diltz] and Critique Legal
Services is practicing law without a license in violation of this
Court's Order. An Order is to enter directing the [UST10] to
investigate this matter. An Order is to enter for [Diltz] and Critique
Legal Services to appear at a certain date to show cause why they
should not be further sanctioned for their violation of this Court’s
prior Orders and restrictions placed upon them and for [Diltz] and
Critique Legal Services to show cause whether or not they are
practicing law without a license. . . . A further Order is to enter
directing the Clerk of this Court to accept no further pleadings or
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cases from [Diltz], Ross Briggs, or Critigue Legal Services until
further Order of this Court.

The next day, on July 25, 2002, the lllinois Bankruptcy Court issued an order to
show cause,® observing that:

[a] review of the debtor’s petition and schedules reveals a morass
of conflicting statements with respect to the preparation of these
documents. In the section of the petition entitled “Name and
Address of Law Firm or Attorney,” the debtor lists “Critique Legal
Services, Beverly Holmes/Ross Briggs.” In the section immediately
following, debtor is asked to list the “name(s) of attorney(s)
designated to represent the debtor.” That section states “Beverly
Holmes.” The sections entitled “Certification and Signature of Non-
Attorney Bankruptcy Petition Preparer” are marked “Not
Applicable,” while the section calling for the attorney’s signature
contains the typewritten name “Beverly Holmes” but no signature.
Beverly Holmes and Critigue Legal Services has not signed the
declaration required by 11 U.S.C. § 110 and, in fact, that
declaration had not been submitted as of the time of the hearing.
The debtor's statement of financial affairs states that he paid
$99.00 to Ms. Holmes but she failed to file the requisite “Disclosure
of Compensation of Bankruptcy Petition Preparer.” Instead, a
“Statement of Attorney for Petitioner Pursuant to Bankruptcy Rule
2016(b) has been filed reflecting the $99.00 payment. On this form,
the space to be executed by the attorney is left blank. However,
under the signature line, the following is typed: Beverly Holmes, Bar
no. 493-80-3893 Attorney for Debtor(s).

The Court also noted that:

[Diltz] has been enjoined by this Court in the past from engaging in
conduct which constitutes the unauthorized practice of law. Mr.
Briggs, who is an attorney licensed in Missouri, has been
admonished previously that he must seek general admission to
practice in this District or admission pro hac vice for each case that
he files. Mr. Briggs had failed to do either as of the time of the
hearing.

On August 14, 2002, the lllinois Bankruptcy Court conducted a hearing on
the show cause order, at which it found that Diltz, “Critique Legal Services,” and

Briggs had violated the court’s prior injunction on the unauthorized practice of law
as well as 11 U.S.C. § 110(b),(c), & (h). On August 15, 2002, the Court entered
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an order and injunction,* directing that:

e Briggs, Diltz and Critique Legal Services (i) disgorge funds received
from the debtor, (i) pay to the Clerk of the lllinois Bankruptcy Court a
$1,500.00 fine for their violations of 18 U.S.C § 110, and (iii) pay
$201.00 to the chapter 13 trustee.

e Diltz and Critique Legal Services be permanently enjoined from filing
any further documents as BPPs in the Southern District of lllinois.

e Briggs pay all attorney’s fees and costs incurred by the debtor in
obtaining alternative counsel.

e Briggs be suspended from filing any new cases in the lllinois
Bankruptcy Court for three months, and that he be reinstated to
practice only after, among other things, the sanctions are paid and he
has been admitted to practice before the lllinois Bankruptcy Court.

F. The 2002 Motion for Sanctions Against Briggs and Order to Show Cause
Why Diltz Should Not Be Held in Civil Contempt, and the Judicial
Determination that Briggs Violated Bankruptcy Rule 9011

Back on this side of the Mississippi, on October 8, 2002, the UST13 filed a

motion in In re Cicely Wayne (Case No. 02-47990),°? seeking sanctions against
Briggs and requesting the issuance of an order directing Diltz to show cause why
she should not be held in civil contempt for violating the 2001 Injunction. The
UST13's allegations included: Diltz d/b/a Critique Legal Services accepted
money from a debtor for legal services; the debtor did not meet with an attorney
during the preparation or filing of her bankruptcy papers; the petition papers were
prepared by “Critique Legal Services” (i.e., by Diltz) rather than by a lawyer;
Briggs signed the petition papers without ever having met with the debtor; and
the schedules contained numerous errors and incomplete representations.

On January 9, 2004, the UST13's motion was denied as moot—not

because the allegations were false or because the request for relief was

51 Attachment 51.

52 Attachment 52.

58



meritless, but because the UST13 had agreed to the denial of the motion as a
term of settling another case in which the UST13 had sued Briggs and Diltz for
the unauthorized practice of law. This denial for mootness, however, did not
resolve all the matters raised in the In re Wayne motion. On January 25, 2006,
the Court had to enter a second order in In re Wayne,>® noting that, “[t]his Order
addresses the issues that have not otherwise been settled or resolved by the
Parties.” In this second order, the Court noted that Briggs admitted that he had
not met with the debtor before filing the case. The Court also determined that:
Briggs had incompetently and incompletely prepared the debtor’'s documents; the
§ 341 meeting had to be continued five times as a result of Briggs’s failure to
properly prepared the debtor's documents; and the debtor's schedules required
numerous amendments and corrections. The Court determined that Briggs
violated Bankruptcy Rule 9011 by filing the debtor’s petition without meeting first
with the debtor—making it not the first, but the second, time that Briggs was
found to have violated Bankruptcy Rule 9011 while serving as a Critique Services
Attorney. (He also violated Bankruptcy Rule 9011 in 2004, in In re Seena Phillips
(Case No. 03-56289), as discussed below.)
G. The 2003 Injunction Against Briggs and the 2003 Injunction Against
Diltz d/b/a Critique Services, d/b/a Critique Legal Services, and
Critique Services L.L.C.

In December 2002, Briggs left his formal employment with Diltz’s business
and began operating as the Briggs Law Center. Again, however, he did not end
his relationship with Diltz and her business. Briggs continued to be informally
affiliated with the business, serving as co-counsel with Critique Services
Attorneys on occasion. Briggs v. LaBarge (In re Phillips), 433 F.3d at 1069.

On January 13, 2003—Iless than three months after the entry of the
injunction in In re Hicks—the UST13 filed a complaint, commencing Rendlen v.
Briggs, et al. (In re Thompson) (Adv. Proc. No. 03-4003).>* The UST13 sued
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Briggs d/b/a Critique Legal Services, Diltz d/b/a Critique Services, d/b/a Critique

Legal Services. and Critigue Services L.L.C., on more claims of unlawful

business operations.

On April 30, 2003, the claims against Briggs were settled pursuant to the

terms of an agreed order.>® Briggs agreed to pay $10,000.00 to certain clients,

attend legal education, and be suspended from filing new cases for six months.
On December 29, 2003, the UST13's claims against Diltz and Critique

Services L.L.C. were settled pursuant to a permanent injunction and consent
decree (the “2003 Injunction”).*® In the 2003 Injunction, Diltz and Critique

Services L.L.C. agreed, among other things, that:

Diltz would comply with the consent injunctions to which she had
previously agreed to comply.

Prior injunctions would be enforceable against Critique Services L.L.C.
Diltz and Critiqgue Services L.L.C. would be permanently barred from
being a BPP in the District.

Diltz and Critique Services L.L.C. would not solicit financial or personal
information from debtors to enable Diltz and Critique Services L.L.C.,
or others under their direction, to insert information into bankruptcy
documents to be filed.

Diltz and Critique Services L.L.C. would not assist or advise debtors in
connection with preparation of bankruptcy documents as to any legal
issue, or explain any issue to debtors arising from the use of a
guestionnaire form.

Diltz and Critique Services L.L.C. would be barred from using the

“legal” or any similar term in any advertisements, or advertise under

Briggs. The Judge was substituted as the named plaintiff only upon his
appointment as the UST in June 2003.
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any category that includes the word “legal” or any similar term.

H. The 2003 Disbarment of Critique Services Attorney Leon Sutton by the
lllinois Bankruptcy Court and Injunction Against Diltz, Permanently Barring
Diltz from “hav[ing] anything to do with any bankruptcy case” in the
Southern District of Illinois

In the meantime, actions against the Critique Services Business also were
proceeding in the lllinois Bankruptcy Court. On April 16, 2003, the UST10 filed a
motion for order to show cause in In re Barry Bonner, et. al. (S.D. lll. Bankr. Lead
Case No. 03-30784). " The UST10 sought an order directing Diltz to show
cause why she should not be held in contempt for violating of the 2002
permanent injunction entered in In re Wigfall. The UST10 made allegations of
injunction violations against Diltz and allegations of professional misconduct by
Critiqgue Services Attorney Leon Sutton.

On May 27, 2003, the lllinois Bankruptcy Court entered an agreed order.>®
In that order, Diltz and Sutton were ordered to disgorge fee payments to the
debtors, Sutton was permanently disbarred from the practice of law in the lllinois
Bankruptcy Court, and Diltz was “permanently barred from the preparation of
bankruptcy petitions or other bankruptcy related documents for any and all
persons, individuals, entities and/or debtors in the Southern District of lllinois.”

In addition, Illinois Bankruptcy Court ordered:

It is the agreement of the parties and the intention of the Court that
this bar be construed in the broadest possible fashion. [Diltz] may
not function as a petition preparer, a paralegal for an attorney, or in
any other capacity in which she might have anything to do with any
bankruptcy case in [the Southern District of Illinois]. The bar further
extends to any business, incorporated or otherwise, in which [Diltz]
has any interest in any form or by which she may be employed.
Likewise, it extends to any and all employees of [Diltz] and/or such
businesses.

I. The 2004 Violation of Bankruptcy Rule 9011 by Briggs While Employed
as a Critique Services Attorney
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Back in this District, in 2003, Briggs once again found himself in trouble for
his activities as a Critique Services Attorney.

As a refresher to the soap opera of Briggs’s relationship with the Critique
Services Business: Briggs had been part of the Critique Services Business for
years, but left formal employment with the business in December 2002;
thereafter, he was suspended from filing new cases in the District for six months.

In November 2003—that is, almost immediately after the expiration of his
suspension—Briggs returned to employment once again as a Critique Services
Attorney. Shortly before Briggs returned to the business in November 2003, on
October 20, 2003, Critique Services Attorney Sutton (who had been disbarred by
the lllinois Bankruptcy Court in In re Bonner, et al.,, but had not yet been
disbarred by the Missouri Supreme Court) filed a petition for the debtor in In re
Seena Phillips (Case No. 03-54061). However, Sutton mishandled the case, and
on November 5, 2003, the case was dismissed.

About that same time, two things happened: Briggs was re-hired at the
business and the Phillips debtor began calling the Critique Services Business
Office, to check on the status of her case, very concerned about a pending
foreclosure. So, Briggs—without having consulted with the debtor and without
having obtained her signature—filed a second petition for the debtor,
commencing Case No. 03-56289, and in doing so, he affixed her electronic “/s/”
signature without her knowledge. These acts were clear violations of Bankruptcy
Rule 9011, regardless of whether Briggs might have been trying to “help” the
debtor. It was unethical lawyering to cover up incompetent lawyering.

But the train-wreck of unprofessionalism did not stop there. Briggs also
managed to list the wrong home address for the debtor on the petition. As a
result, the debtor never received notice of the filing of the second case.
Moreover, after forging her signature on a court pleading and filing a petition on
her behalf without her authority, Briggs did not contact the debtor afterward, to let
her know that her first case had been dismissed as a result of Sutton’s
incompetence and that he (Briggs) had filed a second petition for her. The
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debtor had no idea what was going on.

Then, almost defying the odds, things went downhill from there.

Sometime in December 2003, the debtor retained a new attorney—none
other than Elbert Walton. That is, the debtor suffered a hat-trick of bad lawyers:
she went from being incompetently represented by the soon-to-be-disbarred
Sutton, to being represented without her consent by the previously-suspended-
and-sanctioned Briggs, to being represented by Walton, whose inability to be
honest is nearly pathological.

With this cluster-formation of attorneys, the debtor’'s case then became
fouled-up beyond all recognition.

On December 29, 2003, Walton filed a third petition for relief for the
Debtor Phillips, thereby commencing Case No. 03-57223. Walton filed this third
petition either without doing the most basic due diligence or with deliberate
disregard to the facts. At the time the debtor’s third petition was filed, the debtor’s
second petition was still pending, yet Walton made the blatantly false
representation in the debtor’s third petition that the debtor had not filed any
petition for bankruptcy relief in the past six years.

The events that followed brought to public light the barnyard show of
incompetent and unethical lawyering that had been occurring.

On January 15, 2004, the debtor’s second case was dismissed after the
debtor missed an appearance at her 8 341 meeting (a 8 341 meeting of which
the debtor had no notice). Also on January 15, 2004, in the debtor's second and
third cases, creditor Citifinancial Mortgage Co. filed a motion to dismiss, alleging
that each case was filed in bad faith.

On February 3, 2004, in the debtor’'s second case, the chapter 13 trustee
filed a motion for sanctions under Bankruptcy Rule 9011 against Briggs for filing
the second petition without having met with the debtor.

On February 24, 2004, the Bankruptcy Court from the bench granted the
motion for sanctions, determining that Briggs had violated Bankruptcy Rule 9011
by his unauthorized actions. The Court later entered an order putting the bench

ruling in writing on March 2, 2004.
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On January 9, 2006, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit
affirmed the finding that Briggs had violated Bankruptcy Rule 9011.%° (While the
Eighth Circuit affirmed the bankruptcy court’s finding that Briggs had violated
Bankruptcy Rule 9011, it also ordered that the imposition of $750.00 in sanctions
be stricken, because Briggs had not technically been employed at the Critique
Services Business in October 2003—when the $750.00 was paid. The Eighth
Circuit specifically left open the question of whether “Critique” could be
sanctioned for its role in all that professional malfeasance.)

J. The 2004 MOAG Action in the State Circuit Court

On February 9, 2004, the MOAG filed a Petition for Permanent Injunction,
Preliminary Injunction, TRO and Other Relief Against Defendant Beverly Holmes
[Diltz], Renee Mayweather, Critique Legal Services L.L.C. and Critique Services
L.L.C., commencing an action in the State Circuit Court (the “2004 MOAG
Action”). % In the 2004 MOAG Action, MOAG alleged that Diltz and Mayweather
committed the systematic unauthorized practice of law and “have a pattern and
practice of misrepresenting to consumers that a licensed attorney will prepare
and supervise the preparation of the pleadings and appear in Court when [they]
know that no such attorney exists . . .” The MOAG alleged that: attorneys failed
to show up at hearings; papers were incompetently prepared or not prepared at
all; cases were filed under the wrong chapter of the Bankruptcy Code; the
business failed to communicate with clients; the business failed to return
telephone calls; and the business failed to timely file petitions for relief. The
MOAG argued that all of this was done in violation of the Merchandising
Practices Act.

On February 17, 2004, the State Circuit Court signed a TRO against Diltz,

her limited liability companies, and her non-attorney agents.®*
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On March 1, 2004, the State Circuit Court was requested to take judicial
notice of this Court's February 24, 2004 bench ruling in In re Phillips.®?

On March 3, 2004, the State Circuit Court amended its TRO to include the
preliminary finding that the defendants had violated Mo. Rev. Stat. 8§ 407.020
and 484.020.%

Thereatfter, the discovery process proceeded, during which MOAG had to
file a motion to compel and request sanctions before Diltz and her companies
would agree to provide tax documents.

However, on November 19, 2004, a new attorney from the MOAG was
substituted for the MOAG'’s lead counsel, and two weeks later, on December 3,
2004—for reasons unknown to the Court—the 2004 MOAG Action was
dismissed by the MOAG. Thereafter, the disbarred Critique Services Attorneys
were replaced by new bad-acting attorneys, and the Diltz machine was back up
and running, again preying upon Missouri citizenry.

K. The 2004 Allegations of Threats of Violence by Persons
at the Critique Services Business

Linda C. Ruffin-Hudson became a Critique Services Attorney no later than
2003. According to the records of the Clerk’s Office, on December 17, 2003,%
Ruffin-Hudson obtained a CM-ECF passcode and submitted a Debit/Credit Card
Authorization. ®® On her Debit/Credit Card Authorization, she indicated that her
law firm was “Hudson & Associates Law Firm, L.L.C. d/b/a Critigue Services,”
was located at 4144 Lindell Blvd, Ste. 100, St. Louis, Missouri 63108 (the
previous address of the Critique Services Business, which also is Briggs’s office
address.) She listed Hernandez-Johnson as an authorized user of her credit card

(Hernandez-Johnson also had been listed as an authorized user by Briggs on his
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Debit/Credit Card Authorization).

On January 7, 2004, Ruffin-Hudson filed her first case using her CM-ECF
passcode. However, in March 2004, Ruffin-Hudson wanted out—by all
appearances, quite desperately and in fear for her physical safety. In six pending
cases, she filed a motion to withdraw as counsel.®® She represented that she
was no longer affiliated with the Critique Services Business and that persons at
the Critique Services Business made “threats of bodily harm . . . against Attorney
Ruffin-Hudson including possible harm to Attorney Ruffin-Hudson’s elderly and
handicapped mother.” Ruffin-Hudson also stated that she had “no right to enter
Critique Services premises and due to the aforementioned threats Attorney
Ruffin-Hudson will not enter Critique Services premises for any reason, not even
to retrieve personal belongings.”

L. The 2004 Suspension of Critique Services Attorney
Paula Hernandez-Johnson

Paula Hernandez-Johnson became a Critique Services Attorney in late
2003. According to records of the Clerk’'s Office, Hernandez-Johnson was
admitted to practice in the District on October 29, 2003, obtained a CM-ECF
passcode on November 13, 2003, and filed her first case that same day. ®’ As
noted previously, she was listed by Briggs on his Debit/Credit Card Authorization
as a person authorized to pay Court fees using his credit card. On April 29,
2004, the UST13 filed a complaint against Hernandez-Johnson, thereby
commencing Rendlen, UST v. Hernandez-Johnson (In re Lashanda Rasalla

Thomas) (Case No. 04-4099). °® The complaint alleged that Hernandez-Johnson

% Attachment 60. Ruffin-Hudson filed identical motions to withdraw in In re
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42917); In re Katherine Kisart (Case No. 04-42918); In re Aaron McLemore
(Case No. 04-42962); In re Michelle Williams (Case No. 04-43547); and In re
Alphonso Hemmeain (Case No. 04-43593). A copy of the motion filed in In re
Kisart is attached hereto.
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violated Bankruptcy Rule 9011 while acting as a Critique Services Attorney. Four
days later, on May 3, 2004, the Court entered an agreed order.®® Hernandez-
Johnson agreed to a six-month suspension from filing new cases and to repay
attorney’s fees and filing fees in numerous cases of her Critique Services
Business clients. On July 28, 2004, Hernandez-Johnson filed an affidavit of
compliance. Hernandez-Johnson never filed another case before the Court.
M. The 2006 Disbarment of Critique Services Attorney Linda Ruffin-Hudson
by the Missouri Supreme Court

On May 10, 2006, the OCDC filed an Information with Default Notice in the
Missouri Supreme Court against Ruffin-Hudson.”® The OCDC alleged that Ruffin-
Hudson had failed to properly and professionally represent her clients in several
instances. One of those instances was while Ruffin-Hudson served as a Critique
Services Attorney. On May 12, 2006, the Missouri Supreme Court entered an
order disbarring Ruffin-Hudson for professional misconduct. *

N. The 2006 Disbarment of Critique Services Attorney Leon Sutton by the
Missouri Supreme Court

On May 21, 2004, Leon Sutton (who, by that point, had been disbarred by
the lllinois Bankruptcy Court) was suspended on an interim basis by the Missouri
Supreme Court based. > On May 30, 2006, Sutton was disbarred by the
Missouri Supreme Court (Mo. Sup. Ct. Case No. SC87525). ® In the disbarment
proceeding, violations of eleven separate sections of the Missouri Supreme

Court’s Rules of Professional Conduct were charged.
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O. The 2006 Disbarment of Critique Services Attorney George Hudspeth by
the Missouri Supreme Court
On August 1, 2006, Critique Services Attorney George E. Hudspeth, Jr.
was disbarred by the Missouri Supreme Court (Mo. Sup. Ct. Case No.
SC87881)." In its disbarment order, the Missouri Supreme Court determined
that “after investigation, [it finds] that there is probable cause to believe
[Hudspeth] is guilty of professional misconduct.”

P. The 2007 injunction Against (i) Diltz in Her Individual Capacity and as a
Member of Critique Services L.L.C., d/b/a Critique Services, (ii) Critique
Services L.L.C., and (iii)) Mayweather

On August 11, 2005, the UST13 filed a complaint commencing Gargula v.
Diltz, et al. (In re Hardge) (Adv. Proc. No. 05-4254).” In the complaint, the
UST13 brought claims against (i) Diltz in her individual capacity and in her
capacity as the sole member of Critique Services L.L.C., d/b/a Critique Services,
(i) Critiqgue Services L.L.C. d/b/a Critique Services, and (iii) Mayweather. The
complaint included numerous allegations that the defendants repeatedly lied to
clients about matters related to their cases, lied about their business operations,
and lied to their clients about administrative office matters affecting their cases.
It also included allegations that Diltz repeatedly and blatantly violated the prior
injunction by serving as a BPP, and that she practiced law without a license. The
UST13 sought a broad, permanent injunction prohibiting the defendants from
participating in any bankruptcy case filed in the District. However, on July 31,
2007, the UST13 agreed to yet-another injunction.”® The 2007 Injunction
imposed more limitations on what services Diltz and “Her Interests” could provide
in connection with bankruptcy cases. Some of those restrictions included that:
Diltz was prohibited from directly or indirectly through others meeting with clients
or prospective clients, or creating bankruptcy documents; Diltz could not provide
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bankruptcy document preparation services to the general public; and Diltz could
accept payment of monies under the agreement or license with an attorney or
business organization only from the attorney or business organization. In
addition, Mayweather agreed to be permanently enjoined from the unauthorized
practice of law and that she would engage in providing bankruptcy services to the
public only as an employee under written contract with an attorney or law
practice business. She also agreed to be permanently enjoined from engaging in
bankruptcy document preparation on behalf of Diltz and her Interests.

That is: Diltz, her interests, and Mayweather once again were allowed to
continue to do bankruptcy-related business in the District, on the promise that
they would not do what they had been doing for the previous decade-plus.

How, by that point, the UST13 could have thought that Diltz or anyone
affiliated with her business intended to actually comply is baffling. There are only
so many times that you can pour sugar on slop and sell it as caviar before
someone starts to notice the stench. But whether it was eternal optimism, willful
blindness, or credo quia absurdum est, the result was the same. The Critique
Services Business returned to doing what it had always done: ripping off debtors
through the unauthorized practice of law.

Q. The 2014 Order Imposing Sanctions Against Robinson, Critique
Services L.L.C., and their Counsel, Elbert Walton, and Suspending
Robinson and Walton from the Privilege of Practicing before the Court
(the Steward Suspension Order)

On April 5, 2013, the debtor in In re Steward filed her pro se motion to
disgorge, seeking disgorgement of the fees she had paid at the Critique Services
Business for representation.””

Neither Robinson nor Critique Services L.L.C. timely responded to the
motion. Instead, Robinson “d/b/a Critique Services L.L.C.” retained Walton as
their counsel. Their choice of attorney was especially telling of the intent to
litigate in bad faith. Walton’s name is, quite literally, synonymous in this Circuit
for sanctionable professional misconduct before the bankruptcy court—the
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precedent case law bears his name. Elbert A. Walton, Jr. v. LaBarge (In re
Clark), 223 F.3d 859, 863 (8th Cir. 2000)(affirming the finding that Walton
overcharged clients, misused the bankruptcy process for his personal gain, and
had a non-attorney prepare and file documents and give legal advice). His
reputation includes not only ripping off clients, but also accosting a judge. In
2001, Walton physically menaced a state court judge in court, causing the judge
to fear for his physical safety—a stunt for which Walton was reprimanded by the
Missouri Supreme Court on December 21, 2004.”® To any degree, Robinson,
Critique Services L.L.C. and Walton had long been affiliated with one another
and Robinson and Critique Services L.L.C. would have been well-aware of
Walton’s reputation when he was chosen as their counsel in In re Steward.
Walton was chosen for a reason—and that reason was not for courtroom charm
and professional integrity, since he abjectly lacks either.

On May 7, 2013—the day before the May 8, 2013 hearing scheduled on
the motion to disgorge—Walton filed an untimely response, which he did not
serve upon the debtor before the hearing. At the hearing, Walton’s dismissal
demand was denied and the matter was continued for a week. Thereafter, Ms.
Steward obtained David Gunn as her pro bono attorney. In June 2014, Robinson
and Critique Services L.L.C. were served with discovery requests that included
interrogatories and production requests to which they, again, chose not to timely
respond. Ultimately, after numerous hearings and empty promises that they
would respond, the Court determined that the discovery requests were
uncontested and that any objections were waived. The Court ordered Robinson
and Critique Services L.L.C. to respond to all discovery within seven days or face
sanctions. After they refused to comply, the Court entered its first interim Order
for Sanctions.

At that point, Robinson, Critique Services L.L.C., and Walton launched a
campaign of dishonesty, frivolous filings, abuse of process, and contempt of
court. They repeatedly lied in pleadings and misrepresented court proceedings

and orders. Walton ranted baselessly. They stood on waived objections,
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asserted meritless positions, and made character attacks against the debtor and
her attorney. They filed repeated motions demanding judicial disqualification
based on falsehoods and unsubstantiated accusations (which were denied), filed
a petition for writ of mandamus (which was dismissed), and made two attempts
to appeal interim sanctions orders (one of which was denied, the other of which
went nowhere). Basically, they did anything they could think of, to avoid
compliance with the Order Compelling Discovery.

Their outrageous behavior lasted for nine months, during which time the
Court imposed two orders of escalating sanctions and repeatedly warned that
additional and more severe sanctions would be imposed if they did not comply
with the Order Compelling Discovery. Finally, on June 10, 2014, the Court
entered the Steward Suspension Order.” In it, the Court imposed $49,720.00 in
sanctions on Robinson, Critique Services L.L.C. and Walton, and suspended
Robinson and Walton from the privilege of practicing before the Bankruptcy Court
for one year. The Court also referred the matter to the OCDC and to the District
Court, for any additional disciplinary action that those authorities might determine
proper. (The OCDC is now waiting until Robinson and Walton exhaust their
appellate rights before determining how to proceed on the referrals. The District
Court opened disciplinary proceedings against Robinson and Walton (USDC
Case Nos. 14-MC-0352 and 14-MC-0353). Those District Court proceedings are
abated, pending the determination of the referrals to the OCDC.)

On June 12, 2014, Walton, Robinson and Critiqgue Services L.L.C. filed a
notice of appeal from the Steward Suspension Order. They sought, but failed to
obtain, an order staying of the effectiveness of the Steward Suspension Order
pending appeal.

Meanwhile, Robinson and Walton kept right on committing contempt. In
the first two weeks of their suspensions, they repeatedly violated the terms of
their suspensions, which the Court was then required to address in orders.®
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Walton and Robinson also sought “relief” from the effects of the Steward
Suspension Order from another Judge of the Court. In the unrelated case of In re
Jatuane Mobley (Case No. 14-44207), Walton and Robinson filed assorted
papers, asking the In re Mobley judge—Judge Schermer—not to enforce the
Steward Suspension Order. 8 Judge Schermer denied their request.

R. The 2014 Order Directing Briggs to Correct False and Misleading
Statements and to File Certain Affidavits

Shortly after the suspension of Robinson, Briggs took over the
representation of many of Robinson’s clients. Briggs’s original attempts to enter
his appearance and file documents on behalf of Robinson’s clients were nothing
more than an attempt to help Robinson end-run the effect of his suspension. In
his Notices of Appearance and Rule 2016 Statements, Briggs stated that he
would serve in joint representation and as co-counsel with Robinson and that he
would fee-share with Robinson.®?> However, an attorney in good standing cannot
serve as co-counsel with an attorney who is suspended, and there can be no
“joint representation” with a suspended attorney. And, Briggs could not fee-share
in Robinson’s fees. Robinson was incapable of earning the fees due to his
suspension, and Briggs cannot earn Robinson’s fees for him, by proxy.

Taking a page from the Walton/Robinson playbook of asking another
judge of the Court to “overrule” the undersigned Judge, Briggs tried to obtain
“cover” for his scheme from another judge. On June 16, 2014, in In re Dorothy
Galbreath (Case No. 14-44814), Briggs filed a motion for protective order.®® He
asked the In re Galbreath judge—Chief Judge Surratt-States—to allow him to
serve as co-counsel with Robinson. Chief Judge Surratt-States rejected the

request and ordered Briggs to file amended documents removing any “joint
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representation” references and to represent the debtor without charge.*

On June 25, 2014, the Court put a stop to Briggs's scheme to help
Robinson keep his fees and avoid the effects of the suspension. In eighteen
cases in which Briggs had taken over representation of the debtors following
Robinson’s suspension (In re Tamika Ecole Henry, et al. (Lead Case No. 14-
44922), the Court entered an order (the “Henry Order”),® directing that Briggs's
Rule 2016 Statements and Notices of Appearance be stricken, Briggs be made
sole counsel of record, Briggs donate his services, and Briggs file corrected Rule
2016 statements. The Court also made clear that Robinson could not keep any
unearned fees:

The most sense the Court can make from these representations [in
Briggs’s Notices of Appearance and Rule 2016 statements] is that
Mr. Briggs has a fee-sharing agreement with Mr. Robinson
pursuant to which Mr. Robinson would share with Mr. Briggs the
fees already paid to him by the Debtor. However, any portion of the
fees paid to Mr. Robinson which were not earned by Mr. Robinson
must be returned. Mr. Robinson’s unearned fees are not subject to
being retained by Mr. Robinson, then shared with Mr. Briggs, just
because Mr. Briggs picked up the slack after Mr. Robinson’s
suspension. Fee-sharing may not be used so that Mr. Robinson
can retain (and share) fees that he did not earn.

And, to ensure that any unearned fees were returned, the Court directed that:

Mr. Briggs file an affidavit attesting to the amount of fees returned
by Mr. Robinson to each Debtor. Such affidavit shall be
accompanied by a receipt of returned fees, signed by the receiving
Debtor and reflecting the date upon which the fees were received
by the Debtor. Nothing herein shall limit or prevent the Court from
ordering Mr. Robinson to show cause as to why any portion of the
fees that were paid to him by any Debtor were not returned to such
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Debtor if unearned.

As such, as of June 25, 2014: (i) Robinson was on notice that the Court expected
him to return unearned fees; and (ii) Briggs was on notice that he was expected
to advocate for his clients related to any unearned fees that Robinson held.

The Henry Order was not appealed. It also was not obeyed. Even
months after the issue of the Henry Order, there was no representation on the
record regarding what happened to Robinson’s fees following his suspension.

S. The 2014 Motions Filed by the UST13 Seeking Disgorgement of Fees
and the Issuance of Show Cause Orders Against Diltz, Robinson, and
Critique Services L.L.C.

On November 19, 2014, in In In re Terry L. and Averil May Williams, et al.
(Lead Case No. 14-44204), the UST13 filed motions against Diltz, Robinson and
Critique Services L.L.C., seeking fee disgorgement and the issuance of show
cause orders.®® The motions were based on yet-more allegations of improper
business and unlawful practices and violations of a previous injunction. On
December 19, 2014, the Court (Chief Judge Surratt-States presiding) entered
Orders to Appear and Show Cause against Robinson, Diltz, and Critique
Services L.L.C. The litigation of In re Williams, et al. is ongoing.

T. The Affirmance of the Steward Suspension Order

On March 31, 2015, the District Court entered a Memorandum affirming

the Steward Suspension Order.?” In it, the District Court observed:

It is clear from the record that Robinson, Critique and Walton’s
obstinate behavior before the bankruptcy court was based, at least
in part, on their effort to shield any discovery of how Critique
Services L.L.C. is organized and how it does business. Critique, if it
is a separate entity from Robinson, may impermissibly be practicing
law and/or impermissibly sharing attorney fees with Robinson and
other attorneys. It also appears, based on Steward’'s experience,
that Robinson and Critique are violating legal ethical rules in their
representation of clients in bankruptcy matters.
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On April 14, 2015, Critique Services L.L.C. filed a notice of appeal to the
Eighth Circuit. The Eighth Circuit heard oral arguments on January 12, 2016.
The appeal is now under consideration.

U. The 2015 Pay, Post, or Show Cause Order

After the District Court affirmance, the Court was concerned that, without
the posting of a supersedeas bond securing performance, Robinson, Walton and
Critique Services L.L.C. might fail to pay the judgment, should they fail to
succeed on further appeal. Accordingly, on April 15, 2015, the Court issued an
Order Directing James Robinson, Critique Services, L.L.C., and Elbert Walton to:
() Pay the Sanctions; (Il) Post the Supersedeas Bond; or (Ill) Show Cause as to
Why They Are Not Obligated to Pay or Post, or Why Further Sanctions Should
not be Ordered (“Pay, Post or Show Cause Order”).®® The Court gave Robinson,
Walton and Critique Services until April 22, 2015, to comply.

V. Critique Services L.L.C.’s Efforts to Resolve the Sanctions Ordered in
the Steward Suspension Order

The next day, on April 16, 2015, Trustee Case telephoned Chambers and
spoke with the law clerk. She advised that Mass had asked if she would be
willing to act as a conduit between his client and the Court in negotiations of
alternate terms for satisfaction of the monetary sanctions imposed upon Critique
Services L.L.C. in the Steward Suspension Order. Trustee Case stated that she
advised Mass that she could not act in that capacity at that point in the case.
However, Trustee Case acted as generously as she could, contacting Chambers
to advise that Mass was interested in communicating with Chambers.

In response to Trustee Case’s communication with Chambers, the Judge,
in his official capacity, sent to Trustee Case a letter, dated April 20, 2015,%° a
copy of which was docketed in In re Steward. In the letter, the Judge
memorialized Chambers’ communications with Trustee Case. He also declined

to communicate informally with Critique Services L.L.C. He pointed out that

88 Attachment 88.

8 Attachment 89.

75



Critique Services L.L.C. and its previous counsel, Walton, has acted in bad faith
before the Court, on the very issue of sanctions. The Judge further advised that
“negotiation” was not an available option, explaining that:

Negotiation and mediation are resolution methods utilized by

parties to a dispute seeking to avoid the risks attendant with

litigation. The Court, however, is not a party to the sanctions and is

not in an arm’s length relationship with the Respondents. Moreover,

there is no dispute to be resolved between the Court and the

Respondents. And, unlike a party, the Court has no interest in

avoiding appeal. If the appellate court were to determine that this

Court did not err in the Judgment, then justice has been served. If

the appellate court were to determine that the Court erred in the

Judgment, then the error would be corrected and justice would be

served. Either way, the only interest of the Court—that justice be

served—would be realized. For these reasons, negotiation and

mediation are not available to any of the Respondents.
The Judge also observed that the Court had lost jurisdiction over the Steward
Suspension Order, so the Court could not in any way amend or modify its terms.

However, the Judge did offer an optional, alternate method by which
Critique Services L.L.C. could satisfy the sanctions. He advised that, if Robinson,
Walton and Critique Services L.L.C. performed pursuant to certain terms set forth
in the letter, the Court would enter an order pursuant to Rule 60(b)(5), directing
that they be relieved from the judgment based on that satisfaction. (As the Judge
explained, under Rule 60(b)(5), the Steward Suspension Order would stand, but
Robinson, Walton and Critique Services L.L.C. would be relieved of any further
obligation under it.) The Judge set forth the terms for performance, which
included payment of the attorney’s fees as charged in the Steward Suspension
Order, Robinson’s and Walton’s resignation from the admission to practice
before the Court, and agreement by Critique Services L.L.C. and Diltz to be
permanently prohibited from engaging in any activities that would touch upon any
bankruptcy case in the District. In the letter, the Judge recognized that “[i]t is
possible that this alternate method of satisfaction will not be any more palatable .
.. than the terms set forth in the Judgment,” but observed that:

if the Respondents wish to avoid further appeal, or wish to avoid
being found in further contempt, or wish to avoid posting the bond,
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then they need to recognize that such avoidance will not come at a
discounted price. The Court will not accept any form of sanctions
satisfaction that holds the Respondents less accountable than
would the sanctions terms imposed in the Judgment. The

Respondents’ conduct in this matter has been contemptuous,

abusive, dishonest, deceitful, and disgraceful. The Respondents

cannot be trusted to lawfully provide services to debtors in cases

filed in this District or to participate in good faith in matters before

this Court. To this day, Mr. Robinson and Critique Services L.L.C.

have yet to make the court-ordered discovery about their business

(a business that affects thousands of bankruptcy cases filed in this

District). The Respondents are not in a position to hope that they

can satisfy the sanctions with less accountability.

No party performed pursuant to the alternate terms for sanctions satisfaction.
W. The Body Attachment Order and Bench Warrant

On April 22, 2015, Critique Services L.L.C., through Mass, responded to
the Pay, Post, or Show Cause Order by filing a request for additional time to post
the bond. The Court granted the request, giving Critique Services L.L.C. until
May 4, 2015, to post bond.

Neither Robinson nor Walton responded to the Pay, Post, or Show Cause
Order. Accordingly, on April 29, 2015, the Court entered a Body Attachment
Order and Bench Warrant,? directing that the U.S. Marshals arrest Walton and
Robinson and hold them in custody for the lesser of (i) thirty (30) days, or (ii) until
(a) the $52,206.00 bond is posted, or (b) other cause is shown making his
release from incarceration proper. However, the Court directed that the arrest
directive be stayed until May 4, 2015. On May 1, 2015, Diltz, in her personal
capacity, posted bond for all three appellants.®*

X. The 2015 Order Continuing Robinson’s and Walton’s Suspensions

After one year passed, neither Robinson nor Walton motioned for
reinstatement from his suspension. Neither made any attempt to comply with the

terms for reinstatement. Accordingly, on June 15, 2015, the Court entered an
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order continuing the suspensions of Robinson and Walton.%? In that order, the
Court directed that “unless and until either (i) Robinson and Walton comply with
the conditions required for reinstatement as set forth in the Judgment and
Memorandum, or (ii) the Judgment and Memorandum is reversed as to the
suspensions, the suspensions of Robinson and Walton remain IN EFFECT, on
the terms set forth in the Judgment and Memorandum.”
Y. The 2015 Order Regarding Robinson’s Violation of his Suspension

On August 21, 2015, a well-regarded bankruptcy attorney in the District,
Pamela Leonard, filed an affidavit in In re Steward. ®* Ms. Leonard attested that,
during a state court proceeding, she was advised by the opposing party—a Mr.
Michael Askew—that he had hired Robinson to file a bankruptcy case for him.
Ms. Leonard, being familiar with the Steward Suspension Order, advised Mr.
Askew that it was her understanding that Robinson was suspended. She attested
that Mr. Askew responded, “Mr. Robinson is only helping out with the
paperwork.” Following the filing of the affidavit, the Court gave Robinson an
opportunity to respond. Robinson filed only a cursory response that grossly
mischaracterized the attestations in the affidavit. The Court had cause to believe
that Robinson may have agreed to practice law on behalf of a third party in
violation of his suspension terms. On August 26, 2015, the Court entered an
order forwarding the affidavit to other proper authorities including to the OCDC,
the UST13 and the District Court.**

Z. The 2015 Order Suspending Meriwether’'s CM-ECF Privileges and the
First Referral of Meriwether to the OCDC

In the face of Robinson’s suspension, Diltz needed to find herself a new

attorney to facilitate her business of the unauthorized practice of law. She found

one: the inexperienced and incompetent Meriwether.
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The scope of Meriwether’s problems as a bankruptcy practitioner became
nakedly apparent in In re Arlester Hopson (Case No. 15-43871). On July 22,
2015, the debtor appeared pro se at a scheduled court hearing, without his
attorney of record, Meriwether.®® At that hearing, the debtor identified his
attorney as “Critique Services.” (Despite all low-brow jokes to the contrary, an
attorney is an actual human being. Businesses do not have bar cards.) It quickly
became clear at the hearing that the debtor had no clue who his actual, human
being attorney was. He could not identify the gender of his attorney, much less
his attorney’s name. After the courtroom deputy advised the Court that the
debtor’s attorney was Meriwether, the debtor stated that he had never met
Meriwether. The debtor appeared to have never even heard of Meriwether. The
debtor stated that he had met with Bey in connection with filing his petition. He
also stated that he had been advised by the Critique Services Business to
represent himself at the July 22, 2015 hearing, and that steps had been taken to
convert his case to chapter 13 (in fact, no motion to convert had been filed).

On August 6, 2015, the Court issued a show cause order,® directing
Meriwether to show cause as to why his fees should not be ordered disgorged or
sanctions imposed. It appeared that Meriwether had: violated the prohibition in
Local Bankruptcy Rule 2093(c)(3) against “unbundling” fees; accepted fees from
the debtor without having met with his prospective “client”; failed to consult with
the debtor before the petition papers were filed; failed to render legal services;
abandoned the client during a contested matter; allowed non-attorney staff
persons to tell the debtor to represent himself at a contested hearing; allowed the
unauthorized practice of law by non-attorneys; and failed to amend his Rule 2016
statement when additional monies were paid by the debtor.

Meriwether responded, but failed to show cause why disgorgement was
not warranted and that he should not be sanctioned. Moreover, it appeared that
Meriwether may have committed witness-tampering. On the day that Meriwether
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filed his response to the show cause order, Meriwether also suddenly returned
his fees to the debtor. Contemporaneously, an affidavit—which clearly had been
prepared by the Critique Services Business—was filed, in which the debtor
claimed that he lied to the Court at the hearing. This claim of “lying” was bizarre.
The debtor had been very clear at the hearing and did not strike the Court as
malingering in any way. It appeared to the Court that Meriwether had paid off his
unhappy client in exchange for his client’s “admission” to perjury.

On August 27, 2015, the Court entered an order, °" directing Meriwether to
disgorge the debtor’'s fees and suspending Meriwether from using his CM-ECF
passcode for a year. (At that point, Meriwether remained free to practice before
the Court, but he had to file documents at the computer banks in the Clerk’s
Office). The Court observed:

In response to [the Court’'s observation in the August 6 show cause
order that Meriwether “failled] to meet with his client before filing
the Case”], Meriwether filed an affidavit signed by the Debtor, in
which the Debtor attests that he lied to the Court at the July 22
proceeding about never having met Meriwether. Doing a complete
one-eighty from his representations made at the July 22 hearing, in
the affidavit, the Debtor attests that he met with Meriwether on
three previous—and oddly specific—occasions. The Debtor also
attests that he lied to the Court [ ] because he was “fearful.”

The Court rejects these attestations as utterly non-credible. They
are unsupported by any documentary or testimonial evidence, and
are directly contrary to the credible representations made at the
hearing. At the hearing, the Debtor was not “confused” about the
fact that he had never met Meriwether; to the contrary, he was quite
clear about it. The Debtor’'s ignorance as to Meriwether’s identity
was genuine; it was not hesitating or contrived. And nothing in the
Debtor's manner, presentation or countenance at the hearing
suggested that he was fearful of anything. It appears to the Court
that the affidavit is likely the product of a quid pro quo transaction
between Meriwether and the Debtor. The day before Meriwether
filed his Response, the Debtor's fees were suddenly returned to
him—and, lo and behold, on that same day, the Debtor
contemporaneously executed the affidavit, in which he reversed his
clear statements at the hearing.
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Meriwether appealed to the District Court from the August 27 Order
suspending his CM-ECF privileges. Meriwether inexplicably listed the Judge as
an appellee. Because the Judge was listed as a party, the USA entered an
appearance for the Judge in the appeal. On March 10, 2016, the USA filed a
motion to dismiss. The motion to dismiss is pending.

AA. The First 2015 Order for Monetary Sanctions Against Meriwether and
the Second Referral of Meriwether to the OCDC

Almost unbelievably, Meriwether then made things worse for himself.

In the August 27, 2015 order, the Court directed that in “each and every
open bankruptcy case filed after December 1, 2014, regardless of chapter, (a)
over which the undersigned Judge presides, (b) Meriwether represents the
debtor, and (c) in which the filed Rule 2016(b) Statement violates L.B.R.
2093(c)(3), Meriwether file an amended Rule 2016(b) statement, containing
terms that do not violate L.B.R. 2093(c)(3). Such amended Rule 2016(b)
statements must be filed within seven days of the entry of this Order.” The Court
also directed that, “no later than eight days from entry of this Order, Meriwether
file in this Case a Certificate of Compliance, listing the case number and debtor’s
name for each case in which he filed an amended Rule 2016(b).”

On September 4, 2015, Meriwether filed a Certificate of Compliance.®®
However—as the Court later wrote—Meriwether’'s one-sentence Certificate of
Compliance “was screwed-up in almost every conceivable way.” It was not
properly signed, the service date was obviously incorrect, and the list of case
names and numbers (the whole point of the certificate) was not attached.

On September 8, 2015—the next business day after the September 4
deadline—the Court entered an order in In re Hopson, imposing sanctions on
Meriwether. ® In that order, the Court determined that Meriwether had failed to
comply with the August 27, 2015 order and fined Meriwether $100.00 per day for

each day of continued noncompliance, and directed that Meriwether file an
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amended Certificate of Compliance. In addition, the Court openly begged
Meriwether to practice competently:

The Court cannot fathom what is going on with Meriwether, to have

resulted in such incompetency. The Court strongly encourages

Meriwether to up-his-game when practicing in this forum. In the

August 27 Order, Meriwether had his electronic filing privileges

revoked for a year and a referral was made by the Court to the

Missouri Supreme Court’s Office of Chief Disciplinary Counsel (the

“OCDC"). Now, he has been monetarily sanctioned and given

notice that he may incur more sanctions or be suspended. It is

time for Meriwether to start paying attention, obeying Court

orders, practicing competently, and being in compliance with

the Local Bankruptcy Rules. A copy of this Order shall be

forwarded to the OCDC, in supplement to the referral made

pursuant to the August 27 Order.
Most attorneys would have been so mortified by this admonition that they would
have immediately taken whatever measures were required to right the ship.
Meriwether, however, proved to be not so inspired. He paid the sanctions, then
made no effort to learn from his mistakes.

BB. The 2015 Directive to Dellamano to Cease Improperly Appearing at
§ 341 Meetings

As alluded to earlier, Dellamano appears to have been engaging in the
systematic practice of law in Missouri without holding a Missouri law license while
affiliated with the Critique Services Business. From at least July 2015 through
March 2016, his office was located in Missouri; the non-attorney staff persons
that he used were located in Missouri; his fees were collected in Missouri; the
Court in which he files his cases was located in Missouri; his clients were located
in Missouri; his business advertised to the citizens of Missouri; and his clients’
cases were filed in Missouri. His unlicensed practice of law in this state affected
cases before the Court. By his own admissions to the State Circuit Court on
March 23, 2016, Dellamano met with clients at the Critique Services Business
Office, reviewed their documents, and discussed their cases with them.

He also represented Meriwether clients at 8 341 meetings—clients who
were not his. Dellamano’s appearances at § 341 meetings came to the Court’s

attention late in the summer of 2015, when some of the chapter 7 trustees began
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raising their concerns about Dellamano’s participation at their 8 341 meetings.
Dellamano was not the attorney of record and was not even licensed to be
practicing law in the state, yet he was expecting the trustees to permit him to
represent Meriwether's clients at their 8 341 meetings. However, a § 341
meeting is not an administrative “technicality” where legal representation may not
really be needed. At a 8§ 341 meeting, a debtor is subjected, under oath, to
qguestioning by the trustee, the UST, and creditors. He is bound by his
representations and can do himself great harm if he makes false or confusing
representations. A debtor is entitled to be represented by counsel who knows his
case, is admitted to practice law, and who has made the required disclosures to
the Court regarding the terms of his representation. Moreover, every time
Dellamano showed up at a 8 341 meeting to “represent” one of Meriwether’s
clients, he risked the meeting being shut down by the trustee. A trustee certainly
can refuse to conduct a 8 341 meeting if he suspects that the debtor’s attorney is
attempting to unlawfully practice law at the meeting. A trustee is not obligated to
be complicit in suspected unlawful behavior.

Accordingly, the Court attempted to impress upon Dellamano the
importance of not improperly appearing at 8 341 meetings on behalf of
Meriwether’s clients. On September 18, 2015, the Court issued a notice to

Dellamano, 1%

advising that, without being admitted to practice here, he could not
represent any debtor at a § 341 meeting.
CC. The Second 2015 Order for Monetary Sanctions Against Meriwether
and the Third Referral of Meriwether to the OCDC

Meanwhile, Meriwether’'s incompetency and neglect soon became an
issue again—this time In re Shadonaca Susquitta Davis (Case No. 15-48102).
When Meriwether failed to file a Rule 2016 statement, the Court entered its
standard form notice, warning that unless the statement was filed, the case
would be dismissed. Meriwether ignored the notice, and the case thereafter was

(predictably) dismissed.
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Meriwether then filed a motion to vacate the order of dismissal. He
alleged no ground for such relief. He simply stated that his failure to file his Rule
2016 statement had been “inadvertent"—demonstrating that he is either
dishonest, delusional, or ignorant of the definition of “inadvertent.” On November
13, 2015, the Court issued an order denying the motion to vacate.** The Court
observed that “[p]oor lawyering has consequences. The Court will not vacate a
non-erroneous order simply to save an attorney from the consequences of his
poor lawyering.” In addition, “in light of the fact that Meriwether had so grossly
mismanaged the [d]ebtor’s [c]ase,” the Court directed:

at the Debtor’s choice, Meriwether either: (1) file a new case on
behalf of the Debtor at no cost whatsoever to her; or (2) return all
the attorney’s fees he collected from her in this Case. Meriwether’s
client should not incur additional costs due to the consequences of
Meriwether’'s poor lawyering. In addition, the Court ORDERS that
Meriwether file, no later than seven (7) days from the entry of this
Order, a Statement of Compliance, advising the Court as to
whether he filed a new case or returned the fees. If he files a new
case, he must attach a verified statement of the Debtor, stating that
she was not charged, and will not be charged, by Meriwether, his
law practice, or any entity or person operating as “Critique
Services” or “Critique Services L.L.C.,” in connection with the new
case. If he returns the fees, Meriwether must attach proof of return
of the fees.

Further, the Court gave notice that “if Meriwether fails to timely
comply with this Order, he may be sanctioned and the Court may
issue an order to show cause why [he] should not be directed to
disgorge fees pursuant to 11 U.S.C § 329(b).”
Meriwether then chose not to timely comply with that directive. Accordingly, on
November 24, 2015, the Court entered an order sanctioning Meriwether
$600.00.'% In that order, the Court noted: “[t]he Court has no more patience with
Meriwether’'s repeated refusal to comply timely and completely with Court

directives,” and directed that the matter be forwarded to the OCDC.
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DD. The 2015 Order Suspending Meriwether from the Privilege to Practice
Before the Court and a Fourth Referral of Meriwether to the OCDC

Also on November 24, 2015, in In re Young, the debtor filed pro se a
motion to reopen his case'® and a motion to disgorge attorney’s fees.'®* On
November 25, 2015, the Court entered an order reopening the case.®® The
Court observed “[iln the Motion to Disgorge and the accompanying Motion to
Reopen . . . the Debtor made numerous allegations against Meriwether, including
attorney incompetence, gross case mismanagement, and client abandonment.”
The Court then ordered that “any response to the Motion to Disgorge be filed by
December 4, 2015” and gave notice that “it may impose monetary and/or
nonmonetary sanctions against Meriwether, if it is shown that he committed a
sanctionable act, including but not limited to client abandonment, failing to
appear at a 8§ 341 meeting, or allowing a non-attorney to practice law on his
behalf.”

Meriwether did not respond to the motion to disgorge.

On December 7, 2015, the Court entered an order (the “Meriwether
Suspension Order”),'% determining that Meriwether had failed to do even the
bare minimum required for the debtor to obtain his discharge, had inexcusably
failed to file a critical document for the debtor, and had never been honest with
the debtor about the situation. The Court also found that Meriwether had
abandoned the debtor, had failed to return telephone calls, had refused to
respond to inquiries, and had ignored the debtor’s pleas for attention to his case.
The Court granted the motion to disgorge, determining:

The actions of Meriwether in this Case are reprehensible. He
abandoned a client and allowed non-attorney staff persons at the
office where he works to lie to the Debtor—repeatedly—about the
status of his Case. He took no effort to interact with or to respond to
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his own client. And, in a particularly outrageous turn of events, he
permitted Mayweather not merely to lie to his client, but to lie to his
client about the Court and why a particular disposition was
entered—a lie designed to create distrust of the court of which
Meriwether is an officer. Words fail to adequately describe the
disgracefulness of Meriwether’s conduct.

The Court has given Meriwether ample and repeated warnings
about his problematic conduct, and those warnings have been
ignored. The Court has tried escalating sanctions, and they have
proven ineffective. Monetary sanctions do not deter Meriwether and
even the suspension of his remote access filing privileges has been
of no avail. In summary, Meriwether has collected fees that he
failed to earned, failed to show up at a § 341 meeting as required,
abandoned his client, lied to his client about his case status, and
lied to his client about the Court’s dispositions. And, sadly, none of
this is even surprising, given Meriwether's record of similar
behavior in other cases.

The Court followed with an admonition (bold and italics in original):

This must stop. Meriwether must stop ripping off clients by
abandoning them. He must stop collecting fees and not
earning them. He must stop violating the Local Rules, which
require that he appear at 8 341 meetings. He must stop
abusing the bankruptcy process. He must stop harming
debtors before this Court. He must stop permitting non-
attorney staff persons from participating in the unauthorized
practice of law, and he must stop them from lying to his clients
about their cases.

The Court then suspended Meriwether from the privilege of practicing before the
Court on behalf of any other person until March 7, 2016. The Court also
prohibited any other attorney from using Meriwether's address and telephone
number as his own in Court records during the term of Meriwether’'s suspension.

As the Court explained:

The Court will not permit Meriwether, during his suspension, to
supervise, manage or otherwise be in charge of another attorney
who practices before this Court. Meriwether cannot manage himself
or the non-attorney staff persons with whom he works. He certainly
cannot be trusted to competently supervise, manage, or otherwise
be in charge of another attorney. Accordingly, the Court ORDERS
that, for the duration of Meriwether’'s suspension, no attorney may
list with the Court “3919 Washington Blvd., St. Louis, Missouri”
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(Meriwether’s office address) as his business address or list any

landline telephone number associated with that address as his

business contact number. Currently, no (non-suspended) attorney

lists this address and telephone number in his contact information

with this Court, so this directive will in no way affect the Court’s

current records of other practicing attorneys.

The Court also directed that: Meriwether return to his clients any fees that he
would not be able to earn as a result of his suspension; post in his office a
specific form of notice of suspension; provide to the Court certain information
regarding his relationship with the Critique Services Business and how his
debtor-clients’ fees are handled; and complete twelve hours of continuing legal
education in professional ethics.

Meriwether did not appeal.

EE. The 2015 Suspension of Dellamano’s CM-ECF Passcode

Following Meriwether's suspension, Dellamano was left as the only
attorney in the Critique Services Business Office who was not suspended. On
December 10, 2015, Dellamano obtained a CM-ECF passcode. However, in
doing so, he used Meriwether's business address (the Critique Services
Business Office) as his address and Meriwether’s office telephone number (the
Critique Services Business Office telephone number) as his telephone number.
As noted previously, the Court had ordered that Meriwether was not permitted to
supervise or manage another attorney during his suspension, and that no other
attorney could use his office contact information as that attorney’'s own for
purposes of the Court’s records, during Meriwether’s suspension.

Accordingly, on December 11, 2015, the Court opened the miscellaneous
case of In re Robert Dellamano: Business of the Court (Case No. 15-0402), and
entered an order suspending Dellamano’s CM-ECF passcode until such time as
Dellamano made disclosures regarding the nature of his relationship with
Meriwether and the Critique Services Business.’®” Until those disclosures were

made and the Court was satisfied that Dellamano was not merely a stand-in for
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Meriwether, the Court would not allow Dellamano access to CM-ECF remotely.
This was not a suspension from the practice of law. Dellamano was still permited
to practice before the Court; however, he would have to file documents at the
computer banks in the Clerk’s Office.

FF. The 2015 Suspension of Dellamano’s Privilege to Practice

Before the Court

On December 16, 2015, Dellamano filed notices of appearance, using the
Clerk’'s Office’s computers, in various cases of Critique Services Business
clients.’®® In those notices, Dellamano represented that his mailing address was
100 S. 4th St., Ste. 550, St. Louis, Missouri 63102 (the “Deloitte Building”). This
was somewhat surprising, given that just days earlier, he had represented that
his place of business was the Critique Services Office.

The next day, Chambers staff attempted to confirm the correctness of this
new address, in order to mail case-related correspondence to Dellamano. The
office manager of Suite 550 at the Deloitte Building advised that Dellamano had
no mailing address at that location. Later on December 17, 2015, the Court
entered an order in In re Dellamano, directing Dellamano to file a copy of a
leasing agreement showing that, as of December 16, 2015 (the day that the
notices of appearance were filed), Dellamano actually had a mailing address at
the Deloitte Building.**®

On December 18, 2015, Dellamano filed a copy of a leasing agreement for
a rented mailbox located at Suite 550 in the Deloitte Building. However, the
leasing agreement was executed that day—on December 18, 2015—and merely
had a backdated “start date” of December 15, 2015. Backdating a start date, of
course, does not re-write history. Dellamano failed to produce any evidence that
he had a mailing address at the Deloitte Building at the time he made the
representations in federal pleadings that he had such an address. Moreover, the
reason for Dellamano’s making of these false statements regarding his address
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was readily apparent: Dellamano wanted to file his notices of appearance on
December 16, 2015, but had no address to use, other than that of the Critique
Services Business Office. So, he chose to lie. Perhaps he thought no one would
check; perhaps he thought he could get away with it; perhaps he was planning to
later enter into a lease at that address. Whatever he thought, it was a bad idea.

In addition to filing the back-dated leasing agreement, Dellamano also
made the other two Pavlovian responses of anyone connected to the Critique
Services Business: he filed a motion for judicial disqualification and demanded
that the matter be “transferred” to the District Court. The requests were denied.

Dellamano also employed another common Critique Services Business
strategy: smear others. In his response that accompanied his backdated leasing
agreement, Dellamano made the remarkably unwise decision to attack the law
clerk, insinuating that she had somehow acted improperly in seeking to confirm
his mailing address. Dellamano accused the law clerk of having “investigated” his
address without his “knowledge or consent™—implying that she had conducted
some rogue, secret investigation. But, as it turns out, the law clerk does not
need Dellamano’s consent to do her job. The law clerk was ensuring that this
new address—an address given by an attorney who had a history of playing
games with the Court about his address—was legitimate for purposes of mailing
Court correspondence. She was not a roving drone on a black-ops mission
targeting Dellamano. She picked up the telephone and called the Deloitte
Building—hardly a Zero Dark Thirty tactic. And, she was fully transparent when
speaking with the Deloitte Building staff. She gave her full name, affiliation with
the Court, and her telephone number, and advised that she was seeking to
confirm a mailing address for the purpose of mailing court correspondence.
Dellamano was not a victim of an improper investigation. He was a victim of his
own arrogance.

Late in the day on December 18, 2015, the Court entered a Notice of

Suspension, suspending Dellamano until March 7, 2016.*° On December 21,
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2015—the next business day—the Court issued a detailed Final Order of
Suspension.™! However, the Court provided that Dellamano could be reinstated
prior to March 7, 2016, if he provided to the Court certain disclosures about how
he conducts business and handles his fees.

The Court also updated its address records to reflect that, as of December
18, 2015, Dellamano had a mailing address at the Deloitte Building.

Dellamano appealed his suspension. As of the date of this Memorandum
Opinion, Dellamano has made no effort to be reinstated. The District Court has
not issued a disposition on Dellamano’s appeal of his suspension.

A post-script to the false address saga: Less than a month after
Dellamano entered into the December 18, 2015 lease for the mailbox at the
Deloitte Building, correspondence mailed by the Court to Dellamano at the
Deloitte Building began to be returned, marked “return to sender.” The Clerk’s
Office received one such returned envelope on January 15, 2016, and another
on January 27, 2016. On January 28, 2016, the Court entered an order,*?
directing that the Deloitte Building address be removed as Dellamano’s mailing
address and that the address of the Critiqgue Services Business Office be listed in
its records as Dellamano’s mailing address (Dellamano still had the Critique
Services Business Office as his mailing address with the District Court). On
February 2, 2016, the Court received a third returned document. Finally, on
March 15, 2016, Dellamano filed a hand-scrawled letter, giving the Court notice
of his new address (in Freeburg, lllinois). However, in typical Dellamano-style,
he could not do even this administrative task straightforwardly. He represented
that his new address was “effective as of December 18, 2015"—three months
earlier. Of course, the Court does not retroactively modify its address records.

On March 17, 2016, the Court entered an order disregarding the “effective as”
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language of Dellamano’s notice and specifying that the address change was
effective as of the filing of the notice of address change.*®
GG. The 2015 Order Directing Meriwether and Dellamano to Disgorge Fees

On December 3, 2015, Meriwether filed a bankruptcy petition on behalf of
the debtor in In re Toni Davenport (Case No. 15-49067). In doing so, he used
the “old” official bankruptcy forms, despite the Clerk’s Office having had provided
considerable public notice regarding the requirement that all filers use the “new”
official bankruptcy forms as of December 1, 2015. Moreover, the staff of the
Clerk’s Office advised Meriwether—in person, as he was standing in the Clerk’s
Office on December 3, 2015, filing the documents on the wrong forms—that he
was using the wrong forms. Meriwether ignored the Clerk’s Office warning and
continued right on filing documents, including the Debtor Davenport’s petition, on
the wrong forms. The Court then issued its form order warning that the cases,
including In re Davenport, would be dismissed if the documents were not filed on
the correct forms by December 17, 2015. On December 7, 2015, Meriwether
was suspended, without having fixed the error.

On December 17, 2015, Dellamano filed a notice of appearance in In re
Davenport. He failed to file the debtor's missing petition papers on the
appropriate form. Instead, he filed a motion to extend time to file the debtor’'s
schedules (despite the fact that the debtor was missing more than simply her
schedules). However, the next day, Dellamano was suspended from practicing
before the Court, so he proved to be totally useless to the debtor, anyway.

On December 30, 2015, the Court entered an order, allowing the debtor
until January 15, 2016 to file her bankruptcy papers on the correct forms.™** It
also determined that Meriwether and Dellamano had provided to the debtor no
services of any value, and directed that all the attorney’s fees paid by the debtor
be disgorged. The Court directed Meriwether and Dellamano to file a notice of

compliance upon the return of the fees.
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The order for disgorgement was not appealed. No notice of compliance
was filed. The Court has no representation that the fees were ever returned.

HH. The Additional 2015 Orders Directing Meriwether to Disgorge Fees

Following his suspension on December 7, 2015, Meriwether had
numerous other fee disgorgement orders entered against him. In addition to
being directed to disgorge his fees in In re Young and In re Davenport,
Meriwether was ordered to disgorge his fees in In re Jernisha A. Hayes (Case
No. 15-47014),** In re Chiquita D. Snider (Case No. 15-47344),*° In re Lois Ann
Adams (Case No. 15-47076),''" In re Diana Marie Reardon (Case No. 15-
46634),'"® and In re Nettie Bell Rhodes (Case No. 15-49062).'*°

The orders for disgorgement were not appealed. No notice of compliance
was filed. The Court has no representation that the fees were returned.

II. The 2016 Contempt Finding Against Critique Services Attorneys
Robinson, Meriwether and Dellamano

On December 29, 2015, in In re Lawanda Watson (Case No. 11-42230),
the Court found Robinson, Meriwether and Dellamano to be in contempt of court
for refusing to obey an order for disclosures regarding the creation and use of a
falsified court document.

Several years earlier, on March 12, 2011, Robinson filed a chapter 7
petition for the debtor. Contemporaneously, he filed the debtor’s schedules. The
schedules did not list an “Arrow Finance” as a creditor. On May 5, 2011,
Robinson filed amendments to the schedules. Those amendments did not list an

“Arrow Finance” as a creditor.
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Four years later, on December 10, 2015, the trustee in In re Watson filed a
motion for clarification, requesting a determination from the Court as to whether a
particular document was part of the Court’s records. The request for clarification
arose from the following facts.

On September 24, 2015, the payroll department of the debtor's employer
received a garnishment form from Arrow Finance, requesting that the debtor’s
wages be garnished related to a January 10, 2013 judgment. On September 25,
2015, the payroll department received a three-page fax, on the first page of
which was letterhead reading “Attorneys at Law.” The letterhead gave the
address and telephone contact information for 3919 Washington Blvd., St. Louis,
Missouri. Below the letterhead was a stop-garnishment demand. The stop-
garnishment demand included numerous false statements:

e |t falsely stated that the case was filed on December 31, 2014 (the
case was filed on March 12, 2011, well-before Arrow Finance’s
judgment date).

o |t falsely stated “[tlhere currently is a Stay Order in effect” (in reality,
the automatic stay had not been effective in the case in years).

o |t falsely stated that “[y]Jou may verify case filing by contacting the U.S.
Bankruptcy Courts of the Eastern District of Missouri at (314) 244-
4999 (this is not a telephone number of the Court).

In addition, the third page of the fax purported to be an amended schedule F filed
in In re Watson, on which Arrow Finance was listed as a creditor.

Upon receiving this stop-garnishment demand, the debtor's employer
contacted the trustee, to inquire as to whether demand was valid. When the
trustee reviewed the docket, it appeared to her that the document purporting to
be an amended schedule F had not actually been filed in the case. Accordingly,
the trustee filed her motion for clarification. The trustee sought guidance from
the Court as to how to handle this amended schedule F and the employer’s
request. No response to the motion to clarify was filed.

On December 17, 2015, the Court entered an order granting the motion to

clarify and confirming that the purported amended schedule F was never filed in
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this Case.™™ But, of course, this was not the end of the matter. The purported
amended schedule F appeared to have been dummied up and passed off as a
document that was actually filed in the case, to support the stop-garnishment
demand—a serious act of malfeasance. Therefore, the Court endeavored to
determine who sent the fax. The fax cover sheet contained no information
indicating the specific persons at the Critique Services Business who prepared
and sent the fax. It only generically claimed to be from multiple, unnamed
“Attorneys at Law” who are located at “3919 Washington Blvd.,” and generically
represented that “[o]ur office represents [the Debtor],” but failed to identify who
constituted the “our” exactly.

The Court directed that Robinson, Meriwether, and Dellamano each file a
disclosure (a) identifying, by full name, the person who prepared and sent the
fax; (b) identifying the attorney who was responsible for managing the activities
of the person who sent the fax, if that person was not himself an attorney; (c)
identifying who employed or independently contracted with the person who sent
the fax, if that person was not himself an attorney; and (d) identifying which
attorney, specifically, was purported in the fax to be representing the Debtor in
making this stop-garnishment demand. The Court ordered that the disclosures be
made by December 23, 2015, and gave notice that the failure to make these
disclosures might result in the imposition of sanctions against any non-compliant
attorney.

None of the attorneys made the disclosures or timely filed a response.

On December 29, 2015—almost a week after the deadline for

responding—the Court entered an order, ***

in which it found Robinson,
Meriwether, and Dellamano each to be in contempt of court for failing to respond.
In addition, the Court determined that Robinson, the attorney of record, used or
allowed to be used the falsified amended schedule F and violated the terms of

his suspension by practicing law on behalf of the debtor in connection with this
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Case. The Court noted that nothing in the order constituted a finding that
Meriwether and Dellamano were not involved, either directly or indirectly, with the
creation or use of the falsified document. The record simply did not permit a
finding, at that point in time, regarding any involvement of Meriwether or
Dellamano with the creation and use of the falsified document.
JJ. The 2016 Order Imposing Additional Suspension Terms Upon
Dellamano for His Making of Additional False Statements

On November 12, 2015, Meriwether filed the petition papers for the debtor
in In re Jessica White (Case No. 15-48556). On December 7, 2015, Meriwether
was suspended. On December 17, 2015—the day before the scheduled date for
the debtor’s § 341 meeting—the debtor contacted the trustee and stated that she
had been contacted by someone at the Critique Services Business who advised
that her that her 8 341 meeting had been canceled. However, the § 341 meeting
had not been canceled, and the trustee advised the debtor of this fact.

In the morning of December 18, 2015, shortly before the 8 341 meeting
was scheduled to commence, Dellamano was witnessed by Trustee Case,
standing in the rotunda of the courthouse, appearing to be sending clients home.
Dellamano then came to the § 341 meeting room and “reported” to Trustee Case
that none of Meriwether’s clients whose meetings were scheduled for that day
would appear, and requested that their meetings be continued. At the time that
Dellamano made this “report” and request, he was not the debtor’'s attorney of
record in any of the cases.

Moreover, it appeared that Dellamano had not bothered to determine
whether the Debtor White was present, or whether she actually wanted the
continuance he requested, without any authority, on her behalf. As it turned out,
the Debtor White was present and did not want a continuance. Trustee Case
requested that Dellamano and the debtor determine how they wanted to proceed,
and the two excused themselves. When they returned, they stated that they
would go forward with the meeting. Dellamano advised that he would return after

“filing some documents.”
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Dellamano then went to the Clerk’s Office to file his notice of

12340 In re White. Dellamano attached

appearance’? and Rule 2016 statement
to his notice of appearance a copy of his attorney retainer agreement. The
retainer agreement provided that, “Attorney Meriwether has issued to me a
partial refund and | have retained the services of Attorney Dellamano.” In
addition, in his Rule 2016 statement, Dellamano stated that he had been paid
$100.00 in compensation, and that the source of that compensation was the
debtor.

Sometime after 10:00 A.M., Dellamano returned to the 8§ 341 meeting
room. Dellamano provided to the trustee a copy of the notice of appearance and
Rule 2016 statement that he had just filed.

During the 8 341 meeting, the trustee advised the debtor that the retainer
agreement provided that Meriwether had issued to her a partial refund of her
fees. In response, the debtor stated: “I didn’t get any refund. | requested for a
refund back.”

Incredibly, in response to this statement by his client, Dellamano then
proceeded to throw his own client under the bus. The portion of the transcript
involving Dellamano’s response to his client’'s claim that she did not receive a
refund was an exercise in client abuse and abandonment, conducted by
Dellamano for the sole purpose of trying to save himself.

Instead of making any effort to protect or counsel his client, Dellamano
attacked her—on the record, in front of the trustee. He accused the debtor: “You
signed that piece of paper.” When the debtor—flustered by the situation, but
clear in her contention—reiterated that she did not receive a refund, Dellamano
(without any concern that further discussion on the record might not be in his
client's best interests) persisted: “Did you read that document?” When the

debtor then—once again—stood her ground and insisted, “No one gave me no
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refund,” Dellamano demanded (in what appears to have been a sneering
response): “Did you read that document before you signed it? No?”

As the 8§ 341 meeting wore on, the debtor's testimony revealed that
Dellamano had failed to provide to his client any counsel regarding the retainer
agreement and failed to review her documents with her. The debtor explained
that Dellamano was not even present when she was given the retainer
agreement to sign. She stated that “the lady in the front receptionist’s office”
explained it to her. The debtor stated that, when she signed the retainer
agreement, she “thought [she] was just signing that he [Dellamano] was going to
be my new attorney . . .” Dellamano then blamed his client for signing the
document that he had prepared for her and had office staff instruct her to sign,
proclaiming: “Her signature would indicate that she read and understood the
document.” That is, in an attempt to make himself look less culpable, Dellamano
insisted that his client knowingly signed a false document that he had prepared
and which he later filed with the Court in support of his appearance.

Moreover, the disrespectful demeanor with which Dellamano conducted
himself toward his own client is revealed in the transcript. The situation became
so bad that Trustee Case—an attorney known for her professional decorum and
restraint, but who would not have allowed her § 341 meeting to become a forum
for abuse of a debtor—felt compelled to step in, admonishing Dellamano: “Mr.
Dellamano, let’s not attack our client.”

On December 21, 2015, Trustee Case filed in In re White a Notice of
False and Misleading Representations at Docket Entry Nos. 9 & 10.** On
December 23, 2015, the Court entered an order directing Trustee Case to file a
copy of the transcript of the 8 341 meeting in In re White, and directing
Dellamano to show cause why he should not be sanctioned for the making of

false and misleading statements.® On January 4, 2016, Trustee Case filed a
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copy of the transcript of § 341 meeting.**® Dellamano did not respond to the
show cause directive.

On January 6, 2016, the Court entered an order in In re Dellamano,
imposing additional suspension terms upon Dellamano for his making of false
representations in the pleadings he filed in In re White.**” The Court determined
that the retainer agreement falsely represented that the debtor had received a
refund of Meriwether's fees. Moreover, the Court affixed the blame for the
making of this false statement entirely upon Dellamano, who had prepared the
retainer Agreement and filed it:

The making of the false representation in Dellamano’s Notice of
Appearance by way of the Retainer Agreement is entirely the fault
of Dellamano. Dellamano had the agreement prepared. Dellamano
had the agreement provided to the Debtor for her signature.
Dellamano failed to counsel Debtor White before she executed the
agreement. Dellamano failed to do any due diligence whatsoever
regarding the facts asserted in the agreement. And, Dellamano
blamed his own client for the results of his inexcusable lawyering.
At every step, without exception, Dellamano did everything wrong—
professionally and ethically—related to the Retainer Agreement,
and even now, he accepts no responsibility for his actions. His
complete disregard of his client's interests is professionally
reprehensible and boundlessly narcissistic.

In addition, the Court determined that Dellamano made a false statement in his
Rule 2016 statement:

The Transcript also shows that Dellamano lied about whether and
how he was paid—and he certainly can’t blame his client for that
false statement. In his Rule 2016 Statement that he prepared and
signed, Dellamano stated that he received $100 in compensation
from Debtor White. However, when the Trustee sought to confirm
the source of the $100, Dellamano stated that the $100 “would
have been” taken out of Debtor White’s refund. However, Debtor
White was not issued a refund—so, that statement couldn’t have
been true. Then, once he got inextricably ensnared in his own web
of infidelity to the facts, Dellamano eventually admitted that, in fact,
he had never received the $100 from Debtor White, or from anyone
else. Dellamano’s false statement on this point shows that, once
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again, Dellamano made no effort to ascertain the truthfulness of his
assertions about something as important as his client fees.

Moreover, Dellamano’s testimony indicates that, since Meriwether’'s
suspension, the persons at the Critique Services Business have
simply been moving money amongst themselves. Meriwether is
not returning unearned fees to his clients (despite the entry of
numerous orders for disgorgement of unearned fees that have
been entered in cases filed by Meriwether). Meanwhile, the
Critique Services Business has its clients sign falsified Retainer
Agreements stating that a partial refund had been made—then
treats a portion of the fees collected by Meriwether as a fee paid to
Dellamano. Who knows where all that cash is or who is holding it.
It is clear, however, that the fees aren’t being refunded to clients.

Dellamano did not appeal the order.

KK. The 2016 Referral of Dellamano to the OCDC, the Attorney Registration
& Disciplinary Commission of the Illinois Supreme Court,
and the District Court

On January 6, 2016, the Court entered an order in In re Dellamano,
referring Dellamano’s misconduct to the OCDC, the Attorney Registration &
Disciplinary Commission of the lllinois Supreme Court, and the District Court. On
January 8, 2016, the Court entered a second order for referrals in In re
Dellamano, supplementing the January 6 referrals to those same authorities.*?®

LL. The February 16, 2016 Show Cause Order Against Mayweather

By February 2016, the Court cause to believe that Mayweather was
operating in violation of the terms of the 2007 Injunction. Accordingly, on
February 16, 2016, the Court opened the miscellaneous proceeding, In re
Mayweather, and issued a show cause order.’®® In the show cause order, the
Court listed the facts and circumstances that had come to its attention and
directed Mayweather to file copies of certain “written contract[s] with an attorney
or business organization whose primary business is the practice of law,” to

establish that she had not been operating in violation of the 2007 Injunction. In
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addition, the Court directed that Mayweather file an affidavit listing attorneys or
business organizations whose primary business is the practice of law, for whom
she had worked since the entry of the 2007 Injunction.

On February 19, 2016, Mayweather filed a motion for judicial
disqualification. Her motion appeared to be a version of countless, almost-
identical motions that filed by other Critique Services Business-affiliated
persons. The Court denied the motion to disqualify.

On February 29, 2016, Mayweather filed a response to the show cause

0 1 The contracts were

order, **° and attached copies of three contracts. ™
between Critique Services L.L.C. and various Critique Services Attorneys; they
were not contracts between Mayweather and anyone. As such, the contracts
did not establish that Mayweather had a written employment contract with a
lawyer or law business. Nevertheless, Mayweather misleadingly captioned the
pleading to which the contracts were attached as: “Renee Mayweather’'s
Response in Compliance with the Order of the Court of February 16, 2016,” and
stated in the body of that pleading, “Mayweather . . . files with the Court the
contracts requested by the Court . . .”

On March 1, 2016, Mayweather filed a petition for writ of prohibition with
the Eighth Circuit.*** Her petition for writ of prohibition was denied without
comment on March 2, 2016.%3
On March 4, 2016, Mayweather filed two affidavits in In re

Mayweather.'3*13* |n the first affidavit, Mayweather attested that she has been
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employed “under an oral agreement” that was “pursuant to the contracts
provided to the Courts [sic] on February 29, 2016.” This made no sense. An
oral contract is not “pursuant to” a written contract. Mayweather also attested
that she was an “employee” of Robinson and Meriwether. However, without
credible evidence (such as a tax document or a paystub) showing that
Robinson and Meriwether were her employers, the Court has little reason to
believe this claim, in light of other facts. In the second affidavit, Mayweather
attested that she provided services to Meriwether and Coyle in connection with
the “transfer” of cases to Coyle. She also attested that she does not have a
contract with Coyle. In neither affidavit did Mayweather offer an explanation of
her relationship to Dellamano, despite the fact that she obviously had some sort
of professional relationship with him. She had shown up at the Clerk’s Office
with Dellamano, and asked to be permitted to do Dellamano’s filing for him.

On March 7, 2016, the Court entered an order in In re Mayweather,**
prohibiting Mayweather from providing any sort of services to any person or
entity, if such services would touch upon or affect in any way, a case that is, or
is anticipated to be, before the Court.

MM. The February 16, 2016 Show Cause Order Against Critique Services,

L.L.C., Diltz, Mayweather, Robinson, Meriwether, and Dellamano

On February 16, 2016, the Court received a letter dated February 11,
2016, from a well-regarded bankruptcy practitioner, Timothy Mullin. The letter
advised that a client of Dellamano had recently consulted Mr. Mullin about
retaining his services. In connection with that consultation, Mr. Mullin was given
documents that the client was given by the Critique Services Business. One of
those documents was labeled “News Release” and designed to look like a
legitimate news article, but which bore the false headline: “Judge Denies African
Americans Access to St. Louis Bankruptcy Court” (the article then referred to the
Judge and the Court). The headline was not presented as a statement of opinion

or expression of personal belief; it was presented as a factual statement—a
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factual statement given the appearance of being from a legitimate news source.
Moreover, it appeared that this “News Release” was distributed in connection
with the solicitation of attorney’s fees for services to be rendered in a case that
was anticipated to be before the Court.

Accordingly, on February 16, 2016, the Court opened a miscellaneous
proceeding, In re Critique Services L.L.C., et al.: Business of the Court (Case No.
16-0402), and entered a show cause order.®*” The Court attached to the show
cause order a copy of Mr. Mullin’s letter and the documents he provided. The
Court directed Critique Services L.L.C., Diltz, Mayweather, Robinson,
Meriwether, and Dellamano to show cause why the Court should not order that
each be permanently barred from providing bankruptcy services in the District.
The Court also directed that Mr. Mullin put his knowledge into an affidavit.

On February 18, 2016, Mr. Mullin filed his affidavit.**®

On February 23, 2016, Critique Services L.L.C. and Diltz filed a motion for
judicial disqualification, which was denied.

On February 25, 2015, Diltz, Mayweather, Meriwether, and Dellamano
filed a petition for writ of prohibition with the Eighth Circuit.**®* On March 1, 2015,
the petition for writ of prohibition was denied without comment.**°

Also on February 25, 2016, responses to the show cause order were filed
by Critique Services L.L.C. and Diltz (jointly),*** Mayweather,'** Meriwether,**
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and Dellamano.*** Each alleged due process violations and announced the
intention to raise a slew of constitutional challenges and launch extensive
“discovery.” Each also demanded that the proceeding be transferred to another
judge. In addition, Critique Services L.L.C. and Diltz admitted that Critique
Services L.L.C. had created the News Release. They represented that they had
distributed the News Release “to officials at the NAACP and other civil rights and
media organizations and to some individuals.” However, this also was a false
statement. The News Release was not distributed merely to these persons and
entities.  Critique Services L.L.C. had posted the “News Release” on its
Facebook page where it advertised the Critique Services Business and solicited
business. On February 26, 2016, the Court entered an order taking judicial notice
of the fact that Critique Services L.L.C. distributed the “News Release” as part of
the Critique Services Business’s advertising to the public on its Facebook
page.*®® The Court attached screenshots of the Critique Services Business
Facebook page, showing the use of the News Release. Within a few hours of
the entry of the order taking judicial notice, the Facebook page disappeared.

As of the entry of this Memorandum Opinion, In re Critique Services, et al.
remains open.

NN. The February 18, 2016 Orders Directing Meriwether and
Critique Services L.L.C. to Disgorge Fees

On January 12, 2016, the Court held hearings on the motions to disgorge
fees filed in In re Keisha Renita White (Case No. 15-45524),¢ |n re William
Henry Martin, Ill, and Lanisha Desha Martin (Case No. 15-47021),**" In re Lois
Ann Adams (Case No. 15-47076),**® and In re Juan Devon Miller (Case No. 15-
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47865).1*° Meriwether was the attorney of record for the debtor in each of the
cases. He was given notice of the hearing and an opportunity to respond. He
did not respond or appear at the hearing. The debtors appeared and gave
testimony; each was a credible witness. As reflected in the transcript of the
hearing, °° what happened to the debtors was appalling and the collateral
damage was significant: lost jobs, garnishments, badly disrupted lives,
humiliating experiences, and severely delayed bankruptcy relief.
In In re White, it was established that:

e Debtor White’s case was not timely filed after she paid.

e Debtor White did not meet with Meriwether until after she had paid to
retain his services. Meriwether did not review her matter or provide to
her any legal counsel before he “became” her counsel.

e When Debtor White called to beg the Critique Services Business Office
for her case to be filed, she was told that Mayweather was “in charge”
of filing the cases, and that she would be coming into the office
between two and three o’clock, although the office closed at four.

e Meriwether failed to provide required documentation to the trustee. As
a result, Debtor White received multiple letters from the trustee. Debtor
White then repeatedly contacted the Critique Services Business to ask

that could be done. She was again told that Mayweather was “in
charge”—but again, that Mayweather was not available.

e Meriwether failed to respond in any way to the trustee’s letters seeking
the necessary information for the administration of the Case.

e When the debtor's documentation was finally, at long last, submitted, it
was prepared on the wrong forms.

e Debtor White went back to the Critique Services Business, yet again.

At that point—after the Critique Services Business had failed to
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properly submit the documents—Debtor White was told that she had to
submit the documents herself, because the business had already done
it two times.

Meriwether did not advise Debtor White that he had been suspended.
The debtor found out about his suspension when a friend told her
about a local news story about the Critique Services Business scam.
Ultimately, Debtor White had no other option but to do her legal work
herself. On December 22, 2015, she filed her amended schedules.

In In re Adams, it was established that:

In November 2014, Debtor Adams met with a non-attorney staff person
named “Charlotte” at the Critique Services Business Office, and gave
her $400.00 for representation in her bankruptcy case. After her case
was filed, she needed to make an amendment to her schedules. She
repeatedly tried to contact the Critique Services Business regarding
the amendments, but no one would to speak with her. In addition, she
had received a letter from the trustee that advised that the trustee had
not received required documents.

Finally—desperate—the debtor resorted to going into the Critique
Services Business Office in person, to speak with someone. She took
her letter from the trustee with her.

When she got to the Critique Services Business Office and tried to
show the front office the trustee’s letter, the receptionist demanded that
she sign a new attorney retainer agreement.

The Debtor testified that, after all she had been through, “something
within me just said ‘don’t sign it.””

The non-attorney staff person then became upset because Debtor
Adams refused to sign the document and accused her: “Oh, you['ve]
just been a problem since you[‘'ve] been coming here"—a demeaning
comment to which the Debtor responded, “I'm too old to be a problem.”
Instead of signing a new attorney retainer agreement, Debtor Adams

took the paper and returned to her car.
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Once in her car, she read the document. The document stated that the
Debtor had received a full refund of Meriwether's fees and that she
retained Dellamano.

Debtor Adams unequivocally testified about that document: “None of
that is true. . . . Totally false.” She testified that persons at the Critique
Services Business insisted that she sign this false document.

Debtor Adams then had to do her legal work herself. She came into

the Clerk’s Office and filed, pro se, the amendment to her schedules.

In In re Hudson, it was established that:

In November 2014, Debtor Hudson paid Charlotte Thomas at the
Critique Services Business $299.00 for legal representation. She did
not meet with Meriwether or any other lawyer.

Two months later, in January 2015, she returned to the Critique
Services Office and spoke with Meriwether. She described the meeting
as “brief” and superficial.

Another month came and went, and the Critique Services Business did
not file her bankruptcy case.

The debtor tried to contact the Critigue Services Business by
telephone, but the office did not answer the telephone.

It was only when she went into the Critique Services Office in person
that non-attorney staff person Mayweather finally filed her case.

From there, case mismanagement became client abandonment. When
Debtor Hudson appeared for her § 341 meeting in March 2015, she
found herself among approximately twenty other Critique Services
Business debtors—all of whom believed that they were represented by
Meriwether. The meeting started at 1:00 PM, but Meriwether did not
show up. Debtor Hudson and the other Critique Services Business
clients waited. And waited. And waited. 1:30 PM . .. 2:00 PM . .. 2:30
PM . .. Finally, at 2:45 PM, a man from Critique Services Business
came “running” into the 8 341 meeting. The man was not Meriwether.
It was another man who the debtor could not name. The man began
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dispensing legal advice to the Critique Services Business clients. The
trustee continued the § 341 meeting for a month.

Then, at the continued 8§ 341 meeting in April, Meriwether again did not
show up. This time, Ross Briggs and the “short guy with a goatee”
(presumably, Dellamano, who has a goatee) showed up to represent
her. Briggs and the “short guy with a goatee” were so unprepared that
the trustee had to instruct them to take Debtor Hudson outside the
meeting and explain what they should be doing for her.

In May 2015, the Debtor was required to meet with the trustee yet
again. This time, Meriwether—who, until that point, had been MIA—
finally showed up. But when the trustee asked Meriwether if he had
finally prepared the correct paperwork, Meriwether (as Debtor Hudson
bluntly described it) “stood there with this dumbfound look on his face
like he had no clue.” So, again, the matter was continued. Afterward,
Meriwether assured her that she would not have to come to the
courthouse again for the continued meeting.

In June 2015, Debtor Hudson received another letter advising that she
had failed to appear.

This fiasco went on for months. Debtor Hudson had to come back for
meetings in June, September and then November. Meriwether did not
bother to show up in November. Every time Meriwether did show up,
the trustee told him that he was not filling out the exemption paperwork
correctly and that it had to be redone. Meriwether never properly filled
out the paperwork. As Debtor Hudson explained: “Each month, it was
the same thing. They never changed the paperwork. They didn’'t even
attempt to.”

In In re Miller, it was established that:

Around the beginning of June 2014, Debtor Miller went to the Critique
Services Business Office, to discuss the possibility of filing for
bankruptcy relief. In his words, he wanted “just to get the initial

feedback. Like what would | need, and how much | need to get started,
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or whatever.” That is, he sought the very basic information he needed
to determine whether he should be considering bankruptcy and
whether an attorney at the Critique Services Business would be an
attorney who he would want to hire. He was told by a non-attorney staff
person that he must pay all his attorney’s fees upfront, before anyone
would speak with him about anything.

A week later, he came back with $300.00 for the attorney’s fees, and
was given a packet of information to complete on his own. He had not
spoken to any attorney at that point.

A week or two later, he returned the completed packet and paid
another approximately $300-plus in cash (this would have been for the
case filing fee paid to the Court).

Debtor Miller then heard nothing for “weeks, and weeks, and weeks.”
He repeatedly called the Critique Services Business Office and—
again, in his words—just got “the run around.”

The Critique Services Business still did not file his case.

Debtor Miller, now desperate, began personally going into the Critique
Services Business Office every other day. Finally, about two months
later, he met with an attorney—who he could not name—in a meeting
that he described as “brief.”

After that, the Critique Services Business still did not file his case.
Debtor Miller described what happened thereafter: “Like | said, again,
weeks, months go by. Going down there [to the Critigue Services
Business Office]. It became like a regular part of my schedule.”

Finally, on October 19, 2015, Debtor Miller’'s case was filed.

On November 20, 2015, his § 341 meeting was held. Meriwether did
not appear. Instead, Dellamano, who was not the debtor’s attorney
of record, appeared.

And, in a postscript to Debtor Miller's story: as a result of his need to
go into the Critique Services Business Office, over and over, as “part of

his regular schedule,” to check on his case status and beg for his case
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to be filed, the Debtor lost his job for missing work.

In In re Martin, it was established that:

In September 2014, the Debtors Martin paid a non-attorney staff

person at the Critique Services Office to file their bankruptcy case. At

the time that they paid their fee, they did not speak with Meriwether.

The Critique Services Business did not file their case.

In January 2015, the husband-Debtor Martin returned to the Critique

Services Business Office, and a non-attorney woman advised him that

he now owed a $200.00 “late” fee. He paid the $200.00 in cash and

was given a receipt from a white receipt book.

The Critique Services Business did not file their case.

In March 2015, the husband-Debtor Martin returned yet-again to the

Critique Services Business Office. This time, he was told that the

business would be “contacting” him, to let him know about the status.

The Critique Services Business did not file their case.

Beginning in May 2015, the husband-Debtor Martin’s paycheck began

to be garnished. At that point, the husband-Debtor Martin called the

Critique Services Business, trying to talk with “her” (presumably, the

female non-attorney), but his calls were never returned.

On July 11, 2015, in desperation, the Debtors Martin again drove to the

Critique Services Business Office. This time, husband-Debtor Martin

spoke with Bey, who told him that he owed yet more money. He gave

another $237.00 to the business.

It was only then, on July 11, 2015, ten months after the Debtors Martin

paid for Meriwether's representation, that they finally met with

Meriwether. They described the meeting as “rushed” and lasting about

fifteen minutes.

Yet, after all of this, the Critique Services Business still did not file their
case —for another two months.

Meanwhile, the husband-Debtor Martin’s paychecks continued to be

garnished—from May through June, July, August and then September.
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It was not until September 17, 2015—a year after the Debtors Martin
paid for Meriwether’s “services’—that their case was finally filed.

But the nightmare of abandonment did not stop there. On October 22,
2015, Meriwether did not show up at the § 341 meeting. Instead,

Dellamano showed up, who was not their attorney.

A copy of the transcript of the Debtors Martins’ § 341 meeting was filed on

February 15, 2016.%°* The transcript supported the request for disgorgement.

The transcript revealed:

The Debtors Martin were represented at the 8 341 meeting by
Dellamano. At the time of their 8 341 meeting, Meriwether was not
suspended; he apparently just did not bother to show up and felt
entitled to send Dellamano.

In September 2014, the Debtors Martin went to the Critique Services
Business Office. The office secretary sent them upstairs to meet with a
woman—a woman whose name they did not know. They met with this
woman for forty-five minutes and paid her $349.00 to be represented in
their bankruptcy case. They did not meet with Meriwether.

The Debtors Martin went back to the Critique Services Business Office
again in January 2015, when they were told that they must pay a
$150.00 late penalty.

Over the course of the next nine months, the Debtors Martin returned
to the Critique Services Business Office repeatedly and were given
excuses for why their case had not been filed. They were required re-
sign documents. They pleaded for help, so that the garnishments
would stop. They did not meet with Meriwether until June or July 2015,
long after they had paid their fees. Yet, their case was not filed until
September 2015—after the husband-Debtor Martin’'s paycheck had

been garnished for many months.
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e As of the § 341 meeting, the Debtors Martin had lost thousands of
dollars to garnishments that could have been avoided if their case had
been timely filed. They, along with their four children, by then had
become homeless.

On February 18, 2016, the Court entered its written order, **? granting the
motions to disgorge in each of the cases heard on January 23, 2016. In doing
so, the Court observed:

It would be almost flattering to describe Meriwether’s treatment of
the Debtors as mere client abandonment. Meriwether's conduct is
much worse. He didn’t abandon his clients after agreeing, in good
faith, to represent them; Meriwether never acted in good faith in
accepting the representation. It is clear that, at the time that the
Debtors paid for his services, Meriwether intended one thing: to
have the Critique Services L.L.C. collect the fees, then for the non-
attorney staff persons there to do his “lawyering” for him. He never
intended to provide the legal services for which he was retained.

The Court ordered that both Meriwether and Critique Services L.L.C. disgorge
the fees of the five debtors, reasoning that:

The Court is statutorily permitted to direct disgorgement from
whomever has the fees, even if that person or entity is not the
attorney himself. Moreover, as the Bankruptcy Appellate Panel for
the Eighth Circuit Court of Appeals has explained: § 329(b) “allows
the court sua sponte to regulate attorneys and other people who
seem to have charged debtors excessive fees.” (Brown v. Luker) In
re Zepecki, 258 B.R. 719, 725 (B.A.P. 8th Cir. 2001). While
Meriwether may technically be the attorney who “charged” the
“attorney’s fees,” the notion that Meriwether really had anything to
do with the “charging” the fees is a complete joke. Meriwether is a
stooge for Diltz’s business. It was really the Critique Services
Business, as operated through Critigue Services L.L.C., that
charged and collected the fees.

The order was not appealed. Neither Meriwether nor Critique Services L.L.C.
ever filed a certificate of compliance. There is no evidence before the Court

showing that either disgorged the fees.

OO. The February 29, 2016 Orders Granting Motions for Refund of Fees
(Entered by Judge Schermer)
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On February 22, 2016, the Court (Judge Schemer presiding) held a
hearing on motions for refund of attorney’s fees, filed by the debtors in In re
Melesia Lynn Broom (Case No. 15-48463) and In re Marvin King (Case No. 15-
48587). The debtors appeared; their attorney, Meriwether, did not. On February
29, 2016, the Court entered orders directing Meriwether to refund his fees.*>* *>*
PP. The March 1, 2016 Suspensions of the Law Licenses of Meriwether and

Coyle by the Missouri Supreme Court

On March 1, 2016, the Missouri Supreme Court issued orders suspending
the law licenses of Meriwether and Coyle.'*> **°® Meriwether’s law license was
suspended for one year for his professional malfeasance before this Court.
Coyle’s law license was suspended for her failure to fulfill her continuing legal
education requirements.

QQ. The March 10, 2016 TRO Against Critique Services L.L.C., Diltz and
Mayweather Issued in Casamatta v. Critique Services L.L.C., et al.

On February 26, 2016, the UST13 filed a Complaint, **" thereby
commencing Casamatta v. Critique Services L.L.C., et al., against Critique
Services L.L.C., Diltz and Mayweather. The UST13 sought a permanent
injunction barring Critigue Services L.L.C., Dilz and Mayweather—and their
successors, officers, agents, servants, employees and attorneys and other
persons—from providing “bankruptcy assistance” to any “assisted person,” and
from receiving any payment from any “assisted person.” The UST13 also filed a
Motion for a TRO.™® The UST13's allegations in support of injunctive relief
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included: violations of the 2007 Injunction; an unidentified man who attended
client meetings with Meriwether; the refusal of the Critique Services Business to
file cases until the clients complained to the BBB or a governmental or law
enforcement agency; an imposter who consulted with clients posing as
Meriwether; and an undercover investigation conducted by a local news reporter
that included videotape of Mayweather offering to provide bankruptcy services.

A hearing on the TRO request was held on March 10, 2016.*° The
UST13 called to the stand Critique Services Business client Damon Dorris and a
paralegal from the OCDC. Mr. Dorris testified that he was led to believe that
Dellamano was Meriwether. He also testified that: Mayweather gave him legal
advice (he believed she was an attorney); Mayweather collected $335.00 in cash
from him; he finally met with (the real) Meriwether for only about five minutes,
months after he paid for legal services; and he was told by the Critique Services
Business that his case had been “transferred” to the office of another attorney
without his consent. The UST13 also called to the stand a paralegal from the
OCDC, who gave testimony related to the OCDC'’s investigation of scores of
complaints filed with the BBB by Critique Services Business clients.

Critique Services L.L.C. and Diltz called two witnesses. Their first withess
was Dellamano. Dellamano denied that he introduced himself as Meriwether. He
did admit that, despite not having a Missouri law license, he works under the
“supervision” of Meriwether. (This was an interesting admission—given that
Meriwether admitted that he works for and under the supervision of Mayweather.
This would mean that both Meriwether and Dellamano are supervised by and
work for a non-attorney.)

Dellamano testified that he introduces himself to clients as an attorney,
consults with clients after introducing himself as an attorney, and reviews the
clients’ legal documents for legal sufficiency. Despite all of this, however,
Dellamano testified that he does not practice law. He insisted that even though
he represents to clients that he is an attorney, and even though he consults with
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the clients about their legal matters, he nevertheless does not act as an attorney
when he provides the clients with an attorney consultation. Apparently, he thinks
of himself as some sort of “non-attorney attorney.”

Then, on cross-examination, Dellamano insisted that, even though he was
acting as a “non-attorney attorney,” he was still satisfying the requirement in the
2007 Injunction that “an attorney” meets with each Critique Services Business
client. His logic seemed to hinge on the fact that he is—technically—an attorney,
albeit one who does not hold a Missouri law license.

(Dellamano’s logic relies on a patently ridiculous construction of the 2007
Injunction. Necessarily implicit in any good-faith reading of the 2007 Injunction is
the understanding that the attorney consultation must be performed by a
Missouri-licensed and lawfully practicing attorney in good standing. The point of
the provision was not to have the clients speak with merely a warm body that
happens to have a J.D.; the point of the provision was to ensure that clients were
getting legal services from an actually practicing, actually licensed attorney. An
unlicensed “non-attorney attorney” could not render such services. By
Dellamano’s logic, the “attorney consultation” could be conducted by a disbarred
attorney—since a disbarred attorney is still, technically, an attorney. For that
matter, by Dellamano’s logic, the attorney consultation could be conducted by a
basset hound named “Attorney.” After all, there technically would be an
“Attorney” involved. “Woof, woof—woof you like chapter 7 or chapter 13?")

Critique Services L.L.C. and Diltz’s second witness was a representative
from the local b